Annales Henri Poincaré



Baxter Operators in Ruijsenaars Hyperbolic System I: Commutativity of *Q*-Operators

N. Belousov, S. Derkachov, S. Kharchev and S. Khoroshkin

Ann. Henri Poincaré 25 (2024), 3207–3258 © 2023 Springer Nature Switzerland AG

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-023-01364-4

published online September 15, 2023

1424-0637/24/073207-52

Abstract. We introduce Baxter Q-operators for the quantum Ruijsenaars hyperbolic system. We prove that they represent a commuting family of integral operators and also commute with Macdonald difference operators, which are gauge equivalent to the Ruijsenaars Hamiltonians of the quantum system. The proof of commutativity of the Baxter operators uses a hypergeometric identity on rational functions that generalize Ruijsenaars kernel identities.

Contents

1.	Introduction		3208
	1.1.	Ruijsenaars System	3208
	1.2.	Kernel Function and Kernel Identities	3209
	1.3.	Baxter Q-Operators	3210
	1.4.	Hypergeometric Identities	3212
	1.5.	Further Results	3212
2.	Bax	ter and Macdonald Operators Commute	3214
3.	Commutativity of Baxter Operators		3218
	3.1.	Estimates of Integrals Over Encircling Contours	3220
	3.2.	Reduction to Simple Poles	3225
		3.2.1. Chains of Integrals and Double Zeros Lemma	3225
		3.2.2. Induction Step: Fusion of Chain Integrals	3231
	3.3.	Simple Poles Calculations	3239
4.	Proc	of of Hypergeometric Identities	3245
Ac	Acknowledgements		
Appendix			3250
Α.	. Double Gamma and Sine Functions		3250
В.	3. Bounds for Integrals		3254
References			3256

1. Introduction

1.1. Ruijsenaars System

In this paper, we develop the theory of Baxter operators for relativistic hyperbolic Ruijsenaars system [20]. This model is parametrized by three positive constants ω_1, ω_2 ("periods") and g (coupling constant), subject to the relation

$$0 < g < \omega_1 + \omega_2. \tag{1.1}$$

The dual coupling constant

$$g^* = \omega_1 + \omega_2 - g \tag{1.2}$$

is used as well everywhere.

The Ruijsenaars system is governed by commuting symmetric difference operators

$$H_{r}(\boldsymbol{x}_{n},g|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{\substack{I \subset [n] \ i \in I \\ |I| = r \ j \notin I}} \prod_{\substack{i \in I \\ j \notin I}} \frac{\operatorname{sh}^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\pi}{\omega_{2}} \left(x_{i} - x_{j} - \imath g\right)}{\operatorname{sh}^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\pi}{\omega_{2}} \left(x_{i} - x_{j}\right)} \cdot T_{I,x}^{-\imath\omega_{1}} \cdot \prod_{\substack{i \in I \\ j \notin I}} \frac{\operatorname{sh}^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\pi}{\omega_{2}} \left(x_{i} - x_{j} + \imath g\right)}{\operatorname{sh}^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\pi}{\omega_{2}} \left(x_{i} - x_{j}\right)}$$
(1.3)

acting on meromorphic functions of n complex variables analytic in the strip

 $|\operatorname{Im} x_i| < \omega_1 + \varepsilon, \qquad \varepsilon > 0.$

Here and in what follows we denote tuples of n variables as

$$\boldsymbol{x}_n = (x_1, \dots, x_n). \tag{1.4}$$

The sum in (1.3) is taken over all subsets

$$I \subset [n] = \{1, \dots, n\} \tag{1.5}$$

of cardinality r. By $T_{x_i}^a$ we denote shift operators

$$T_{x_i}^a := e^{a\partial_{x_i}}, \qquad (T_{x_i}^a f)(x_1, \dots, x_i, \dots, x_n) = f(x_1, \dots, x_i + a, \dots, x_n),$$
(1.6)

with $T^a_{I,x}$ being their product

$$T^a_{I,x} = \prod_{i \in I} e^{a\partial_{x_i}} \tag{1.7}$$

for any subset $I \subset [n]$.

The Ruijsenaars operators (1.3) are closely related to Macdonald operators

$$M_r(\boldsymbol{x}_n; g | \boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{\substack{I \subset [n] \\ |I| = r}} \prod_{\substack{j \in I \\ j \notin I}} \frac{\operatorname{sh}\frac{\pi}{\omega_2} \left(x_i - x_j - ig \right)}{\operatorname{sh}\frac{\pi}{\omega_2} \left(x_i - x_j \right)} \cdot T_{I, x}^{-i\omega_1}.$$
 (1.8)

Namely, denote by $\mu(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ the function

$$\mu(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = S_2(\imath z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(-\imath z + g^*|\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(1.9)

and by $\mu(\boldsymbol{x}_n|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ the product

$$\mu(\boldsymbol{x}_n|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^n \mu(x_i - x_j).$$
(1.10)

Here $S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ is the double sine function, its definition and key properties are given in Appendix A. Then,

$$\sqrt{\mu(\boldsymbol{x}_n|\boldsymbol{\omega})} M_r(\boldsymbol{x}_n; g|\boldsymbol{\omega}) \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mu(\boldsymbol{x}_n|\boldsymbol{\omega})}} = H_r(\boldsymbol{x}_n, g|\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$
(1.11)

Note that the function $\mu(\boldsymbol{x}_n|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ is non-negative (assuming real constants g, ω_1, ω_2), since

$$\mu(x|\boldsymbol{\omega})\mu(-x|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = S_2(\imath x|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(-\imath x|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(\imath x + g^*|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(-\imath x + g^*|\boldsymbol{\omega})$$

= $|S_2(\imath x|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(\imath x + g^*|\boldsymbol{\omega})|^2.$ (1.12)

Ruijsenaars operators are symmetric with respect to the pairing

$$(\varphi,\psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}_n) \bar{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}_n) d\boldsymbol{x}_n,$$

while the Macdonald operators are symmetric with respect to the pairing

$$(\varphi, \psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}_n) \bar{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}_n) \mu(\boldsymbol{x}_n) d\boldsymbol{x}_n.$$
(1.13)

1.2. Kernel Function and Kernel Identities

Unlike the original Ruijsenaars' setting, we do not suppose that the periods ω_1, ω_2 and the coupling constant g are real positive. Instead, we assume everywhere that all of them are complex numbers with positive real parts

$$\operatorname{Re}\omega_1 > 0, \qquad \operatorname{Re}\omega_2 > 0, \qquad \operatorname{Re}g > 0. \tag{1.14}$$

We also require the condition

$$0 < \operatorname{Re} g < \operatorname{Re} \omega_1 + \operatorname{Re} \omega_2. \tag{1.15}$$

Further we usually fix the periods $\boldsymbol{\omega} = (\omega_1, \omega_2)$ and for brevity skip them in the notation, for example we use the symbol $S_2(z)$ for the double sine function

$$S_2(z) := S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$

Denote by K(z) the following function of a complex variable

$$K(z) = S_2^{-1} \left(iz + \frac{g^*}{2} \right) S_2^{-1} \left(-iz + \frac{g^*}{2} \right).$$
(1.16)

In terms of the Ruijsenaars hyperbolic Gamma function

$$G(z) = S_2\left(iz + \frac{\omega_1 + \omega_2}{2}\right) \tag{1.17}$$

using reflection formula for the double sine function (A.6) it can be written as

$$K(z) = G\left(z - \frac{ig}{2}\right)G^{-1}\left(z + \frac{ig}{2}\right).$$
(1.18)

3209

Also let

$$\boldsymbol{z}_n = (z_1, \ldots, z_n), \qquad \boldsymbol{y}_n = (y_1, \ldots, y_n), \qquad z_i, y_i \in \mathbb{C}$$

be two tuples of *n* complex variables. The Ruijsenaars **kernel function** $K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n)$ is defined as a product

$$K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n) = \prod_{i,j=1}^n K(z_i - y_j).$$
(1.19)

The kernel function $K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n)$ satisfies the relations

$$(M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n; g) - M_r(-\boldsymbol{y}_n; g)) K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n) = 0, \qquad r = 1, \dots, n,$$
 (1.20)

that is $K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y})$ is a zero value eigenfunction for commuting difference operators

$$M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n;g) - M_r(-\boldsymbol{y}_n;g),$$

see [22]. The relations (1.20) are the corollary of the trigonometric version of kernel function identity [22], valid for any tuples z_n and y_n of n complex variables and arbitrary parameter α :

$$\sum_{\substack{I \subset [n] \\ |I|=r}} \prod_{i \in I} \left(\prod_{\substack{j \in [n] \setminus I}} \frac{\sin(z_i - z_j - \alpha)}{\sin(z_i - z_j)} \prod_{a=1}^n \frac{\sin(z_i - y_a + \alpha)}{\sin(z_i - y_a)} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{\substack{A \subset [n] \\ |A|=r}} \prod_{a \in A} \left(\prod_{b \in [n] \setminus A} \frac{\sin(y_a - y_b + \alpha)}{\sin(y_a - y_b)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\sin(z_i - y_a + \alpha)}{\sin(z_i - y_a)} \right).$$
(1.21)

In the following we also use the kernel function with the second argument being a tuple of n-1 complex variables

$$K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_{n-1}) = \prod_{i=1}^n \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} K(z_i - y_j).$$
(1.22)

1.3. Baxter Q-Operators

Let us introduce the family of Baxter Q-operators $Q_n(\lambda)$ parameterized by $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ as the integral operators

$$(Q_n(\lambda)f)(\boldsymbol{z}_n) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} Q(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n; \lambda) f(\boldsymbol{y}_n) d\boldsymbol{y}_n$$
(1.23)

with the kernel

$$Q(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n; \lambda) = e^{2\pi i \lambda (\boldsymbol{z}_n - \boldsymbol{y}_n)} K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n) \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n), \qquad z_j, y_j \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(1.24)

Here and in what follows we denote the sum of tuple components as

 $\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_n = z_1 + \ldots + z_n.$

The Q-operator maps functions of n real variables to functions of n real variables.

The following theorem is a simple consequence of kernel function identities (1.21); its proof is given in Sect. 2.

Theorem 1. Under the condition

$$0 < \operatorname{Re} g < \operatorname{Re} \omega_2 \tag{1.25}$$

the operators $Q_n(\lambda)$ commute with Macdonald operators $M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n; g | \boldsymbol{\omega})$

$$M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n; g) Q_n(\lambda) = Q_n(\lambda) M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n; g), \qquad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
(1.26)

Assume in addition to (1.14), (1.15) that

$$\nu_g = \operatorname{Re}\frac{g}{\omega_1\omega_2} > 0. \tag{1.27}$$

Due to the bounds for the functions K(y) and $\mu(y)$ (B.3) proven in Appendix B, the product of two Q-operators

$$Q_n(\lambda) Q_n(\rho)$$

is a well-defined integral operator with the kernel $Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{w}_n; \lambda, \rho)$ given by absolutely convergent integral

$$Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{w}_n; \lambda, \rho) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} Q(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n; \lambda) Q(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{w}_n; \rho) d\boldsymbol{y}_n$$
(1.28)

and the domain that consists of fast decreasing functions $f(w_n)$, see Proposition 5 and remark after it in Appendix B. The main result of this paper is the commutativity of Baxter *Q*-operators, its proof is given in Sects. 3 and 4.

Theorem 2. Under the conditions (1.14), (1.15), (1.27) Baxter operators commute

$$Q_n(\lambda) Q_n(\rho) = Q_n(\rho) Q_n(\lambda).$$
(1.29)

The kernels of the operators in both sides of (1.29) are analytic functions of λ, ρ in the strip

$$|\operatorname{Im}(\lambda - \rho)| < \operatorname{Re} \frac{g}{\omega_1 \omega_2}.$$
 (1.30)

Remark. Both sides of the relation (1.29) depend analytically on all the parameters λ, ρ, g, ω in the region of absolute convergence of the integrals.

As it was observed for other integrable systems (see lectures [23] for review), the classical analog of the Baxter Q-operator is a special canonical transformation called Backlund transformation. In the paper [16] V. Kuznetsov and E. Sklyanin proposed a general scheme that relates the kernel of a Q-operator and generating function of the corresponding Backlund transformation. In the work [7] M. Hallnäs and S. Ruijsenaars showed that in the certain classical limit the kernel and measure functions $K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n), \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n)$ contained in the Qoperator kernel (1.24) give rise to the Backlund transformation for the classical Ruijsenaars system. In this context, the Q-operator we defined is a quantum counterpart of this transformation.

We also note that for the case of two particles n = 2 (and real constants ω_1, ω_2, g) such an operator first implicitly appeared in the work [11]. Moreover, the commutativity of Q-operators in this particular case also follows from the results of [11].

1.4. Hypergeometric Identities

The proof of Theorem 2 consists of residue calculation of the integrals (1.28). This includes the proof of cancellation of higher-order poles and the equality of sums of ordinary poles. The latter is equivalent to certain identity for basic hypergeometric series, which resembles duality transformation theorem for multiple hypergeometric series by Y. Kajihara and M. Noumi, see [14].

Let q and t be formal variables. Denote by $(z;q)_k$ the q-analog of the Pochhammer symbol,

$$(z;q)_k = (1-z)(1-qz)\cdots(1-q^{k-1}z).$$
 (1.31)

Let $\boldsymbol{u} = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{v} = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ be two tuples of *n* variables.

Theorem 3. For any integer K, we have the following equality of rational functions

$$\sum_{|\mathbf{k}|=K} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(qt;q)_{k_i}}{(q;q)_{k_i}} \times \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{(t^{-1}q^{-k_j}u_i/u_j;q)_{k_i}}{(q^{-k_j}u_i/u_j;q)_{k_i}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^{n} \frac{(tu_j/v_a;q)_{k_j}}{(u_j/v_a;q)_{k_j}}$$
$$= \sum_{|\mathbf{k}|=K} \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{(qt;q)_{k_a}}{(q;q)_{k_a}} \times \prod_{\substack{a,b=1\\a\neq b}}^{n} \frac{(t^{-1}q^{-k_a}v_a/v_b;q)_{k_b}}{(q^{-k_a}v_a/v_b;q)_{k_b}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^{n} \frac{(tu_j/v_a;q)_{k_a}}{(u_j/v_a;q)_{k_a}}.$$
(1.32)

Here the sum on both sides of the equality is taken over n tuples of non-negative integers with total sum equal to K

$$\mathbf{k} = (k_1, \dots, k_n), \qquad k_i \ge 0, \qquad k_1 + \dots + k_n = K.$$
 (1.33)

Note that the kernel function identity (1.21) is a particular limit of the hypergeometric identity (1.32), see [4] for details.

After our work was completed, O. Warnaar and H. Rosengren communicated to us that an elliptic analog of this identity was proven by different methods in the papers [17, Corollary 4.3], [6, eq. (6.7)].

1.5. Further Results

Denote by $\Lambda_n(\lambda)$ the integral operator

$$\left(\Lambda_n(\lambda)f\right)(\boldsymbol{x}_n) = d_{n-1}(g) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n-1}} \Lambda(\boldsymbol{x}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_{n-1}; \lambda) f(\boldsymbol{y}_{n-1}) d\boldsymbol{y}_{n-1}$$
(1.34)

with the kernel

$$\Lambda(\boldsymbol{x}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_{n-1}; \lambda) = e^{2\pi i \lambda (\boldsymbol{x}_n - \boldsymbol{y}_{n-1})} K(\boldsymbol{x}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_{n-1}) \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n-1})$$
(1.35)

and the constant

$$d_{n-1}(g) = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \left[\sqrt{\omega_1 \omega_2} S_2(g) \right]^{-n+1}.$$
 (1.36)

The operator $\Lambda_n(\lambda)$ maps functions of n-1 real variables to functions of n real variables. M. Hallnäs and S. Ruijsenaars [8] proved that for real periods ω under the condition

$$0 < \operatorname{Re} g < \omega_2 \tag{1.37}$$

the function

$$\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_n}(\boldsymbol{x}_n; g | \boldsymbol{\omega}) = \Lambda_n(\lambda_n) \Lambda_{n-1}(\lambda_{n-1}) \cdots \Lambda_2(\lambda_2) e^{2\pi i \lambda_1 x_1}$$
(1.38)

is given by absolutely convergent integral and represents the joint eigenfunction of Macdonald operators

$$M_r(\boldsymbol{x}_n; g) \Psi_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_n}(\boldsymbol{x}_n; g) = e_r \left(e^{2\pi\lambda_1 \omega_1}, \dots, e^{2\pi\lambda_n \omega_1} \right) \Psi_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_n}(\boldsymbol{x}_n; g), \qquad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
(1.39)

Here $e_r(z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ is r-th elementary symmetric function,

$$e_r(z_1, \dots, z_n) = \sum_{1 \le i_1 < i_2 < \dots < i_r \le n} z_{i_1} \cdots z_{i_r}.$$

In the next paper [3], we show that the operators (1.35) can be obtained in the certain limit from Baxter *Q*-operators, so that the commutativity of *Q*operators imply commutation relations between Λ -operators and *Q*-operators, and between Λ -operators themselves. These relations allow to derive important properties of the eigenfunction. In particular, we show that the eigenfunction (1.38)

1. enjoys duality property

$$\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_n}(\boldsymbol{x}_n; g | \boldsymbol{\omega}) = \Psi_{\boldsymbol{x}_n}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_n, \hat{g}^* | \hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}), \qquad (1.40)$$

and consequently admits another iterative integral representation given by Mellin–Barnes type of integrals over spectral parameters λ_j . Here we denoted

$$\hat{a} = \frac{a}{\omega_1 \omega_2} \tag{1.41}$$

for any $a \in \mathbb{C}$, so that

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}} = \left(\frac{1}{\omega_2}, \frac{1}{\omega_1}\right), \qquad \hat{g} = \frac{g}{\omega_1 \omega_2}, \qquad \hat{g}^* = \hat{\omega}_1 + \hat{\omega}_2 - \hat{g} = \frac{g^*}{\omega_1 \omega_2}; \qquad (1.42)$$

- 2. is symmetric function of the coordinates x_j , as well as of the spectral variables λ_j ;
- 3. is an eigenfunction of the Baxter Q-operator with the eigenvalue

$$\prod_{j=1}^{n} \hat{K}(\lambda - \lambda_j) = \prod_{j=1}^{n} S_2^{-1} \Big(\imath(\lambda - \lambda_j) + \frac{\hat{g}}{2} \Big| \hat{\omega} \Big) S_2^{-1} \Big(-\imath(\lambda - \lambda_j) + \frac{\hat{g}}{2} \Big| \hat{\omega} \Big);$$
(1.43)

4. is a solution of bispectral problem for Macdonald operators $M_r(\boldsymbol{x}_n; g | \boldsymbol{\omega})$ and $M_s(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_n; \hat{g}^* | \hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}})$:

$$M_{r}(\boldsymbol{x}_{n};g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{n}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{n};g) = e_{r}\left(e^{2\pi\lambda_{1}\omega_{1}},\ldots,e^{2\pi\lambda_{n}\omega_{1}}\right)\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{n}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{n};g),$$

$$M_{s}(\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{n};\hat{g}^{*}|\hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}})\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{n}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{n};g) = e_{s}\left(e^{\frac{2\pi\boldsymbol{x}_{1}}{\omega_{2}}},\ldots,e^{\frac{2\pi\boldsymbol{x}_{n}}{\omega_{2}}}\right)\Psi_{\boldsymbol{\lambda}_{n}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{n};g),$$
(1.44)

if $\operatorname{Re} g < \operatorname{Re} \omega_2$ and $\operatorname{Re} \hat{g}^* < \operatorname{Re} \hat{\omega}_2$.

For the hyperbolic Calogero–Sutherland model, which represents a non-relativistic limit of the Ruijsenaars system, the latter result was established in [12] and [13].

2. Baxter and Macdonald Operators Commute

Theorem 1 follows from the kernel function identity and from the invariance of the measure $\mu(\boldsymbol{x}_n)d\boldsymbol{x}_n$ with respect to the Macdonald operators.

We present here two proofs of this theorem. Both work for complex periods ω_1, ω_2 and coupling constant g. The first prove is direct analytical. The second one is its short algebraic reformulation. It exploits symmetry properties of the Macdonald operators with respect to symmetric bilinear pairing (2.22) in a way analogous to [18, Chapter VI, §9]. We describe here both proofs since the first one allows to visualize the appearing restriction on the coupling constant g, while the second outlines the responsible algebraic properties.

I. Direct proof. Let $\Phi(\boldsymbol{z}_n)$ be a function of *n* complex variables $\boldsymbol{z}_n = (z_1, \ldots, z_n)$ analytic in a strip

$$\Pi_{\varepsilon}: \quad -\varepsilon - \operatorname{Re}\omega_1 < \operatorname{Im} z_i < \operatorname{Re}\omega_1 + \varepsilon.$$
(2.1)

We are going to prove the equality

$$M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n; g) Q_n(\lambda) \Phi(\boldsymbol{z}_n) = Q_n(\lambda) M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n; g) \Phi(\boldsymbol{z}_n), \qquad r = 1, \dots, n.$$
(2.2)

Explicitly it looks as

$$M_{r}(\boldsymbol{z}_{n};g) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) e^{2\pi i \lambda(\boldsymbol{z}_{n}-\boldsymbol{y}_{n})} \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) d\boldsymbol{y}_{n}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) e^{2\pi i \lambda(\boldsymbol{z}_{n}-\boldsymbol{y}_{n})} M_{r}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n};g) \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) d\boldsymbol{y}_{n}.$$
(2.3)

Here we assume convergence of the corresponding integrals and $z_n \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Note the important property of the integration contour \mathbb{R}^n in the integral (2.3): it separates two series of poles of the kernel function

$$iy_i = iz_j + \frac{g^*}{2} + m\omega_1 + k\omega_2 \qquad \text{and} \qquad iy_i = iz_k - \frac{g^*}{2} - m\omega_1 - k\omega_2, \qquad m, k \ge 0,$$
(2.4)

and two series of poles of the measure function

$$iy_i = iy_j + g + m\omega_1 + k\omega_2$$
 and $iy_i = iy_k - g - m\omega_1 - k\omega_2$, $m, k \ge 0$,
(2.5)

see (A.11), (A.12) for the poles and zeros of the double sine function.

The left hand side of (2.2) looks as

$$M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n; g) Q_n(\lambda) \Phi(\boldsymbol{z}_n) = \sum_{\substack{I \subset [n] \\ |I|=r}} \prod_{\substack{i \in I \\ j \in [n] \setminus I}} \frac{\operatorname{sh}\frac{\pi}{\omega_2} \left(z_i - z_j - ig \right)}{\operatorname{sh}\frac{\pi}{\omega_2} \left(z_i - z_j \right)} \cdot T_{I,z}^{-i\omega_1} Q_n(\lambda) \Phi(\boldsymbol{z}_n),$$
(2.6)

where the shift operator $T_{I,z}^{-i\omega_1}$ is defined in (1.7). Consider the summand corresponding to subset $I = \{i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_r\}$. Denote this summand by J_I :

$$J_{I} = \frac{\operatorname{sh}\frac{\pi}{\omega_{2}}\left(z_{i}-z_{j}-\imath g\right)}{\operatorname{sh}\frac{\pi}{\omega_{2}}\left(z_{i}-z_{j}\right)} \cdot T_{I,z}^{-\imath \omega_{1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) e^{2\pi\imath \lambda(\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n}-\underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n})} \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) d\boldsymbol{y}_{n}.$$
(2.7)

(2.7) Shifts act non-trivially on the kernel $K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n)$ and exponent $e^{2\pi i \lambda (\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_n - \underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_n)}$. By (1.16), (1.19) we have

$$\prod_{i \in I} T_{z_i}^{-\iota\omega_1} K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n) = \prod_{i \in I} \prod_{a=1}^n \frac{\operatorname{sh} \frac{\pi}{\omega_2} (z_i - y_a - \iota \frac{g^*}{2})}{\operatorname{sh} \frac{\pi}{\omega_2} (z_i - y_a - \iota \frac{g^*}{2} - \iota g)} K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n),$$

$$\prod_{i \in I} T_{z_i}^{-\iota\omega_1} e^{2\pi\iota\lambda(\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_n - \underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_n)} = e^{2\pi\tau\lambda\omega_1} \cdot e^{2\pi\iota\lambda(\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_n - \underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_n)},$$
(2.8)

where in the first formula we have transformed the right hand side to the form similar to (1.21).

The operator $T_{z_i}^{-i\omega_1}$ shifts z_i and we have to shift the integration contour in (2.7), so that the conditions (2.4) are satisfied with the replacement of iz_i by $iz_i + \omega_1$. That is the shifted contour should separate set of poles

$$iy_{a} = iz_{j} + \frac{g^{*}}{2} + m\omega_{1} + k\omega_{2}, \qquad m, k \ge 0, \qquad j \notin I,$$

$$iy_{a} = iz_{j} + \frac{g^{*}}{2} + (m+1)\omega_{1} + k\omega_{2}, \qquad m, k \ge 0, \qquad j \in I,$$
(2.9)

from

$$iy_{a} = iz_{j} - \frac{g^{*}}{2} - m\omega_{1} - k\omega_{2}, \qquad m, k \ge 0, \qquad j \notin I,$$

$$iy_{a} = iz_{j} - \frac{g^{*}}{2} - (m-1)\omega_{1} - k\omega_{2}, \qquad m, k \ge 0, \qquad j \in I,$$
(2.10)

and also separate two series of poles (2.5) of the measure functions. For this, we can use the contour

C: Im
$$y_a = -c$$
, $-\operatorname{Re} \frac{g^*}{2} + \operatorname{Re} \omega_1 < c < \operatorname{Re} \frac{g^*}{2}$, $a = 1, \dots, n$ (2.11)

which exists provided

$$\operatorname{Re} g^* > \operatorname{Re} \omega_1, \quad \text{or equivalently} \quad \operatorname{Re} g < \operatorname{Re} \omega_2. \quad (2.12)$$

Since the contour C does not depend on a set I, we can permute integration and summation procedures, so that

$$M_{r}(\boldsymbol{z}_{n};g) Q_{n}(\lambda) \Phi(\boldsymbol{z}_{n}) = \sum_{\substack{I \subset [n] \\ |I| = r}} J_{I} = e^{2\pi r \lambda \omega_{1}}$$
$$\times \int_{C} S_{r}(\boldsymbol{z}_{n}, \boldsymbol{y}_{n}) \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n}, \boldsymbol{y}_{n}) e^{2\pi \iota \lambda(\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n} - \underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n})} \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) d\boldsymbol{y}_{n},$$
(2.13)

where

$$S_{r}(\boldsymbol{z}_{n}, \boldsymbol{y}_{n}) = \sum_{\substack{I \subset [n] \\ |I| = r}} \prod_{i \in I} \left(\prod_{j \in [n] \setminus I} \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_{2}}^{\pi} (z_{i} - z_{j} - ig)}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_{2}}^{\pi} (z_{i} - z_{j})} \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_{2}}^{\pi} (z_{i} - y_{a} - i\frac{g^{*}}{2})}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_{2}}^{\pi} (z_{i} - z_{j})} \right)$$

Define similar sum

$$\tilde{S}_r(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_n) = \sum_{\substack{A \subset [n] \\ |A| = r}} \prod_{a \in A} \left(\prod_{b \in [n] \setminus A} \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (y_a - y_b + \imath g)}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (y_a - y_b)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (z_i - y_a - \imath \frac{g^*}{2})}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (z_i - y_a - \imath \frac{g^*}{2} - \imath g)} \right)$$

One can see that the sum $S_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n)$ is obtained from the left hand side of the kernel function identity (1.21) by the change of variables

$$z_k \to \frac{i\pi}{\omega_2} z_k, \qquad y_a \to \frac{i\pi}{\omega_2} \Big(y_a + i \frac{g^*}{2} + ig \Big), \qquad \alpha \to \frac{i\pi}{\omega_2} ig$$
(2.14)

and there is the same correspondence between $\tilde{S}_r(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_n)$ and the right hand side of (1.21). It implies the equality

$$S_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n) = \tilde{S}_r(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_n).$$
(2.15)

Thus, we rewrite (2.13) as

$$M_{r}(\boldsymbol{z}_{n};g) Q_{n}(\lambda) \Phi(\boldsymbol{z}_{n})$$

$$= e^{2\pi r \lambda \omega_{1}} \int_{C} \tilde{S}_{r}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n},\boldsymbol{z}_{n},) \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) e^{2\pi i \lambda (\boldsymbol{z}_{n}-\boldsymbol{y}_{n})} \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) d\boldsymbol{y}_{n}$$
(2.16)

and apply to each occurring summand the same procedure in opposite direction. Namely, for any subset $A \subset [n]$ of cardinality r in the integral

$$J'_{A} = \int_{C} \prod_{a \in A} \left(\prod_{b \in [n] \setminus A} \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_{2}}^{\pi} \left(y_{a} - y_{b} + \imath g \right)}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_{2}}^{\pi} \left(y_{a} - y_{b} \right)} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_{2}}^{\pi} \left(z_{i} - y_{a} - \imath \frac{g^{*}}{2} \right)}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_{2}}^{\pi} \left(z_{i} - y_{a} - \imath \frac{g^{*}}{2} - \imath g \right)} \right) \\ \times e^{2\pi \imath \lambda \left(\underline{z}_{n} - \underline{y}_{n} \right)} \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n}, \boldsymbol{y}_{n}) \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) d\boldsymbol{y}_{n}$$

$$(2.17)$$

we perform the change of integration variables

$$y_a \to y_a - \imath \omega_1, \qquad a \in A.$$
 (2.18)

We have

$$\prod_{a \in A} T_{y_a}^{-\imath\omega_1} K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n) = \prod_{a \in A} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\operatorname{sh} \frac{\pi}{\omega_2} (y_a - z_i - \imath \frac{g^*}{2})}{\operatorname{sh} \frac{\pi}{\omega_2} (y_a - z_i - \imath \frac{g^*}{2} - \imath g)} K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n),$$

$$\prod_{a \in A} T_{y_a}^{-\imath\omega_1} \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n) = \prod_{\substack{a \in A \\ b \in [n] \setminus A}} \frac{\operatorname{sh} \frac{\pi}{\omega_2} (y_a - y_b - \imath \omega_1)}{\operatorname{sh} \frac{\pi}{\omega_2} (y_a - y_b)} \cdot \frac{(-1)\operatorname{sh} \frac{\pi}{\omega_2} (y_a - y_b - \imath g)}{\operatorname{sh} \frac{\pi}{\omega_2} (y_a - y_b)} \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n),$$

Vol. 25 (2024) Baxter Operators in Ruijsenaars Hyperbolic System I 3217

$$\prod_{a \in A} T_{y_a}^{-\iota\omega_1} e^{2\pi\iota\lambda(\underline{z}_n - \underline{y}_n)} = e^{-2\pi\tau\lambda\omega_1} \cdot e^{2\pi\iota\lambda(\underline{z}_n - \underline{y}_n)}.$$
(2.19)

Using (2.19) and the relations

$$\prod_{a \in A} T_{y_a}^{-\imath \omega_1} \prod_{a \in A} \left(\prod_{b \in [n] \setminus A} \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (y_a - y_b + \imath g)}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (y_a - y_b)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (z_i - y_a - \imath \frac{g^*}{2})}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (z_i - y_a - \imath \frac{g^*}{2} - \imath g)} \right)$$
$$= \prod_{a \in A} \left(\prod_{b \in [n] \setminus A} \frac{(-1) \operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (y_a - y_b - \imath g^*)}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (y_a - y_b - \imath \omega_1)} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (z_i - y_a + \imath \frac{g^*}{2} + \imath g)}{\operatorname{sh}_{\omega_2}^{\pi} (z_i - y_a + \imath \frac{g^*}{2})} \right)$$
(2.20)

we see that

$$J'_{A} = \int_{\tilde{C}} d\boldsymbol{y}_{n} \, \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n}, \boldsymbol{y}_{n}) \, e^{2\pi i \lambda (\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n} - \underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n})} \\ \times \prod_{\substack{a \in A \\ b \in [n] \setminus A}} \frac{\operatorname{sh}_{\frac{\pi}{\omega_{2}}}^{\pi} (y_{a} - y_{b} - ig)}{\operatorname{sh}_{\frac{\pi}{\omega_{2}}}^{\pi} (y_{a} - y_{b})} \prod_{a \in A} T_{y_{a}}^{-i\omega_{1}} \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}),$$

$$(2.21)$$

where the contour \tilde{C} is the deformation of the contour C according to the change of variables (2.18). In the assumption $\operatorname{Re} g^* > \operatorname{Re} \omega_1$ we may choose again $\tilde{C} = \mathbb{R}^n$ provided the conditions (2.5) on separation of the poles of the measure are not spoiled during the move of the contour. Note that zeros of the measure $\mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n)$ cancel the poles of the hyperbolic sine functions in the last line of (2.21).

On the other hand, zeros of the sine functions

$$\operatorname{sh}\frac{\pi}{\omega_2}\left(y_a - y_b - \imath g\right)$$

cancel poles

$$y_b = y_a - ig - ip\omega_2, \qquad p \ge 0$$

of the measure function, so that the first pole which we can meet during the move of the contour is

$$y_b = y_a - \imath g - \imath \omega_1$$

and its shift does not touch the real plane. Then, we can deform the contour \tilde{C} to its original position \mathbb{R}^n . Summing up (2.21) with the integration contour replaced by \mathbb{R}^n we arrive at the statement of Theorem 1.

II. Algebraic version. In the space of functions $\varphi(\boldsymbol{z}_n)$ analytical in the strip Π_{ε} (2.1) and satisfying the bound

$$\varphi(\boldsymbol{z}_n) = O(|\boldsymbol{z}_n|^{-1}), \quad \operatorname{Re} z \to \infty, \quad z \in \Pi_{\varepsilon}$$

introduce the symmetric bilinear pairing

$$(\varphi, \psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(\boldsymbol{y}_n) \psi(-\boldsymbol{y}_n) \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n) d\boldsymbol{y}_n.$$
(2.22)

Denote by τ_y the operator that changes the sign of argument in a function

$$\tau_y \varphi(\boldsymbol{y}_n) = \varphi(-\boldsymbol{y}_n).$$

Then, we can rewrite this pairing as

$$(\varphi, \psi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(\boldsymbol{y}_n) \tau_y[\psi(\boldsymbol{y}_n)] \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n) d\boldsymbol{y}_n.$$
(2.23)

The eigenvalue property (1.20) of the Ruijsenaars kernel function $K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n)$ can be written as

$$M_r(\boldsymbol{z}_n; g) K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n) = \tau_y M_r(\boldsymbol{y}_n; g) \tau_y K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n).$$
(2.24)

However, if we want to use the relation (2.24) for the operator with a kernel containing $K(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n)$, we should impose the condition (2.12) in order to have correctly defined shift operators. Macdonald operators are symmetric with respect to the pairing (2.6) (compare with [18, Chapter VI, §9, eq.(9.4)])

$$(M_r(\boldsymbol{y}_n;g)\,\varphi(\boldsymbol{y}_n),\psi(\boldsymbol{y}_n)) = (M_r(\boldsymbol{y}_n;g)\,\psi(\boldsymbol{y}_n),\varphi(\boldsymbol{y}_n))\,. \tag{2.25}$$

Then, the left hand side of the relation (2.2) can be written as

$$M_{r}(\boldsymbol{z}_{n};g)\left(K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n})e^{2\pi\imath\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n}}, \ e^{2\pi\imath\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n}} \tau_{y} \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n})\right)$$

$$= e^{2\pi\imath\lambda\omega_{1}} e^{2\pi\imath\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n}} \left(M_{r}(\boldsymbol{z}_{n};g)K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}), \ e^{2\pi\imath\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n}} \tau_{y} \Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n})\right).$$
(2.26)

Using (2.24) we rewrite (2.26) as

$$e^{2\pi r\lambda\omega_{1}}e^{2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n}}\left(\tau_{y}M_{r}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n};g)\tau_{y}K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}), \ e^{2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n}}\tau_{y}\Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n})\right)$$

$$=e^{2\pi r\lambda\omega_{1}}e^{2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n}}\left(M_{r}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n};g)\tau_{y}K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}), \ e^{-2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n}}\Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n})\right).$$

(2.27)

Next applying (2.25) we have

$$e^{2\pi r\lambda\omega_{1}}e^{2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n}}\left(\tau_{y}K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}),\ M_{r}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n};g)e^{-2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n}}\Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n})\right)$$

$$=e^{2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n}}\left(\tau_{y}K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}),\ e^{-2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n}}M_{r}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n};g)\Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n})\right)$$

$$=e^{2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{n}}\left(K(\boldsymbol{z}_{n},\boldsymbol{y}_{n}),\ e^{2\pi i\lambda\underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n}}\tau_{y}M_{r}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n};g)\Phi(\boldsymbol{y}_{n})\right).$$

(2.28)

The last line of (2.28) coincides with the right hand side of (2.2).

3. Commutativity of Baxter Operators

The commutativity of Q-operators

$$Q_n(\rho) Q_n(\rho') = Q_n(\rho') Q_n(\rho)$$
(3.1)

follows from the equality of the kernels

$$Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{x}_n; \boldsymbol{\rho}, \boldsymbol{\rho}') = Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{x}_n; \boldsymbol{\rho}', \boldsymbol{\rho})$$
(3.2)

of their products

$$Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{x}_n; \rho, \rho') = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} d\boldsymbol{y}_n \, Q(\boldsymbol{z}_n, \boldsymbol{y}_n; \rho) Q(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{x}_n; \rho'), \qquad z_j, x_j \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(3.3)

One can further note that the variables z_n and x_n enter the equality (3.2) in a similar way. Thus, we combine them into a common 2n array

$$\boldsymbol{z}_{2n} = \{z_1, \dots, z_n, x_1, \dots, x_n\}$$

and set

$$Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_{2n};\lambda) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{2\pi i \lambda \boldsymbol{y}_n} \prod_{a=1}^{2n} \prod_{i=1}^n K(z_a - y_i) \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n) d\boldsymbol{y}_n.$$
(3.4)

Then, the equality (3.2) takes the form of the following integral identity

$$Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_{2n};\lambda) = e^{2\pi i \lambda \underline{\boldsymbol{z}}_{2n}} Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_{2n};-\lambda), \qquad (3.5)$$

where we put

$$\lambda = \rho' - \rho.$$

Under the condition (1.27), both integrals in (3.5) absolutely converge uniformly on compact subsets of the parameters, see Proposition 5 in Appendix B. Thus, both sides of the equality (3.5) are analytic functions of all the parameters therein. Having in mind these analyticity properties we prove the equality (3.5) step by step following the plan below.

- 1. We prove that for complex periods ω_1, ω_2 with $\operatorname{Re} \omega_i > 0$ and $\omega_1/\omega_2 \notin \mathbb{R}$ both integrals may be calculated by residues technique for big enough negative values of $\operatorname{Re} \lambda$. In other words, one can find a sequence of contours that in the limit encircle all poles in the corresponding half plane (for each integration variable) and such that the integrals over encircling contours tend to zero.
- 2. Next we assume that the real parameters z_i are generic. Under this assumption, we prove that the sum of residues over higher order poles vanishes. For this, we accumulate the vanishing properties of the integration measure $\mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n)$ into Lemma 4, which says that the sum of 4^r integrand values over the points with interchanged coefficients at the periods gives zero of order 2r. This lemma is used to describe the result of k successive integrations computed by residues and to show that after each integration higher-order poles vanish.
- 3. At this stage, we are left with the sum of simple poles on both sides; each of them is a product of one-dimensional residues integrals over shifted parameters z_i . Their sums decompose into the sums of $\binom{2n}{n}$ series, depending of which parameters z_i enter the residue calculations. The equalities of corresponding series reduce to certain identities on rational functions which we prove separately. The identities generalize Ruijsenaars' kernel function identity and could be treated as certain duality transformations for multivalued basic hypergeometric series [14].
- 4. Finally, due to analyticity of the statement (3.5) we conclude that it is valid first for all values of the parameters z_i , Re λ and as well for $\omega_1/\omega_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ (in particular, for real values of the periods ω_1, ω_2).

3.1. Estimates of Integrals Over Encircling Contours

In the end of this subsection, we prove that the integrals in Q-commutativity identity (3.5) can be calculated by residues in the case $\omega_1/\omega_2 \notin \mathbb{R}$.

Denote by σ_i the arguments of the periods ω_i , $|\sigma_i| < \pi/2$. Since the double sine function is invariant under permutation of ω_1 , ω_2 , suppose for definiteness that $\sigma_1 \geq \sigma_2$. Let D_+ and D_- be the cones of poles (A.11) and zeros (A.12) of the double sine function $S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$:

$$D_{+} = \{z \colon \sigma_{2} < \arg z < \sigma_{1}\}, \qquad D_{-} = \{z \colon \pi + \sigma_{2} < \arg z < \pi + \sigma_{1}\}, \\ D = D_{+} \cup D_{-}.$$

In the first step of our plan, we consider contour in the limit encircling big interval in the real line to a big semicircle in the corresponding half plane. This contour contains three different parts and inside each part the needed bounds are obtained in different ways. In the part of the contour close to the real plane we apply the bound given in Proposition 6 in Appendix B. In the next part of the contour which lies in the regular region $\mathbb{C} \setminus D$, we use the general statements about at most exponential growth of the functions K and μ , see (A.29), (A.33).

A subtle point is the estimate of the integrand along the part of the contour lying in "forbidden" areas $D_+ \cup D_-$ and passing between poles of the double sine function. This estimate is not possible for purely real periods or for periods whose ratio is real. Therefore, for the estimates in the area $D_+ \cup D_-$ we assume

$$\operatorname{Im}\frac{\omega_1}{\omega_2} > 0. \tag{3.6}$$

Then, we use an infinite product representation of the double sine function,

$$S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = e^{\frac{\pi i}{2}B_{2,2}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})}\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = e^{-\frac{\pi i}{2}B_{2,2}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})}\varphi'(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$$
(3.7)

where

$$\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{r(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})}{s(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})} = \frac{\prod_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(1 - q^{2m} e^{\frac{2\pi i z}{\omega_2}}\right)}{\prod_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \tilde{q}^{2m} e^{\frac{2\pi i z}{\omega_1}}\right)},$$
(3.8)

$$\varphi'(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{r'(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})}{s'(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})} = \frac{\prod_{m=0}^{\infty} \left(1 - \tilde{q}^{2m} e^{-\frac{2\pi i z}{\omega_1}}\right)}{\prod_{m=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - q^{2m} e^{-\frac{2\pi i z}{\omega_2}}\right)}$$
(3.9)

with

$$q = e^{\pi \imath \frac{\omega_1}{\omega_2}}, \qquad \tilde{q} = e^{-\pi \imath \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1}}$$
 (3.10)

and $B_{2,2}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ is a particular multiple Bernoulli polynomial (A.2). For any real t_0 and ε , $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ denote by $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0,\varepsilon)$ the strip in the complex plane of the variable z, bounded from one side

$$\Pi_{1,+}(t_0,\varepsilon) = \{ z = t\omega_1 + \theta\omega_2 \mid t > t_0, \ \varepsilon < \theta < 1 - \varepsilon \}.$$
(3.11)

Lemma 1. The function $\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ is restricted and bounded from zero in any strip $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0,\varepsilon)$,

$$0 < C_1 < |\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})| < C_2 \qquad for \qquad z \in \Pi_{1,+}(t_0,\varepsilon). \tag{3.12}$$

Proof. Let $\omega_1/\omega_2 = \alpha + i\beta$, $\beta > 0$ and assume first that $t_0 > 0$. Consider the nominator of $\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$. It could be written as

$$r(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \prod_{m\geq 0} \left(1 - q^{2m} e^{2\pi i \frac{t\omega_1 + \theta\omega_2}{\omega_2}} \right) = \prod_{m\geq 0} \left(1 - e^{2\pi i \left((m+t) \frac{\omega_1}{\omega_2} + \theta \right)} \right)$$
$$= \prod_{m\geq 0} \left(1 - e^{-2\pi\beta(m+t)} e^{2\pi i \left(\alpha(m+t) + \theta \right)} \right).$$
(3.13)

We have for t > 0

 $|e^{-2\pi\beta(m+t)}e^{2\pi\imath(\alpha(m+t)+\theta)}| = e^{-2\pi\beta(m+t)} < 1.$ (3.14)

Due to inequality

$$|1 - |a| < |1 - a| < 1 + |a| \tag{3.15}$$

we get the following bound for the nominator $r(z|\omega)$ of $\varphi(z|\omega)$

$$\xi_{\beta}(t_0) < |r(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})| < \eta_{\beta}(t_0)$$

where

$$\xi_{\beta}(t_0) = \prod_{m \ge 0} \left(1 - e^{-2\pi\beta(m+t_0)} \right), \qquad \eta_{\beta}(t_0) = \prod_{m \ge 0} \left(1 + e^{-2\pi\beta(m+t_0)} \right).$$

Both these infinite products are converging products not equal to zero. In order to extend the desired bound for negative values of t_0 , we note that this extension adds finite product of factors; each of them is bounded from zero due to the restriction on θ . Let

$$\frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1} = c - \imath d, \qquad d > 0.$$

Consider the denominator $s(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ of $\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$. It looks as

$$s(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \prod_{m \ge 1} \left(1 - \tilde{q}^{2m} e^{2\pi i \frac{z}{\omega_1}} \right) = \prod_{m \ge 1} \left(1 - e^{-2\pi d(m-\theta)} e^{2\pi i (-c(m-\theta)+t)} \right).$$
(3.16)

For $\theta < 1$, we have

$$|e^{-2\pi d(m-\theta)}e^{2\pi i(-c(m+\theta)-t)}| = e^{-2\pi d(m-\theta)} < 1$$

Again, using inequality (3.15) we get the bound

$$\xi'_d(\varepsilon) < |s(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})| < \eta'_d(\varepsilon)$$

where

$$\xi'_d(\varepsilon) = \prod_{m \ge 0} \left(1 - e^{-2\pi d(m+\varepsilon)} \right), \qquad \eta'_d(\varepsilon) = \prod_{m \ge 0} \left(1 + e^{-2\pi d(m+\varepsilon)} \right) \quad (3.17)$$

are convergent infinite products.

Remarks. Similar arguments give the two-sided bound for the values of the functions $\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ and $\varphi'(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ in generic strips.



FIGURE 1. The parameter $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ controls a place of the strip $\Pi_{j,\pm}$ in the $(\mathbb{Z}\omega_1, \mathbb{Z}\omega_2)$ -lattice. The value of t_0 determines where strip starts, and the parameter ε defines its thickness

1. The function $\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ and its inverse are restricted in strips

$$\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, m, \varepsilon) = \{ z = t\omega_1 + \theta\omega_2 \mid t > t_0, \ m + \varepsilon < \theta < m + 1 - \varepsilon \}, \quad (3.18)$$

$$\Pi_{2,-}(t_0, m, \varepsilon) = \{ z = -t\omega_2 - \theta\omega_1 \mid t > t_0, \ m + \varepsilon < \theta < m + 1 - \varepsilon \}$$
(3.19)
where $m \in \mathbb{Z}, \ 0 < \varepsilon < 1.$

2. The function $\varphi'(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ and its inverse are restricted in any strip

$$\Pi_{2,+}(t_0, m, \varepsilon) = \{ z = t\omega_2 + \theta\omega_1 \mid t > t_0, \ m + \varepsilon < \theta < m + 1 - \varepsilon \}, \quad (3.20)$$

$$\Pi_{1,-}(t_0, m, \varepsilon) = \{ z = -t\omega_1 - \theta\omega_2 \mid t > t_0, \ m + \varepsilon < \theta < m + 1 - \varepsilon \}$$
(3.21)
where $m \in \mathbb{Z}, \ 0 < \varepsilon < 1.$

Next we consider the function $\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})\varphi^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})$. Assume that

$$g \notin \mathbb{Z}\omega_1 + \mathbb{Z}\omega_2. \tag{3.22}$$

First of all note that for any $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ there exist $0 < \varepsilon' < \varepsilon$, $t'_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that the strip $\{z = -g + t\omega_1 + \theta\omega_2 \mid t > t_0, \varepsilon' < \theta < 1 - \varepsilon'\}$ is inside the strip $\Pi_{1,+}(t'_0, N_0, \varepsilon)$. Then, for any $N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ the ratio $\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})\varphi^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ has no poles and no zeros in the strip $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, N, \varepsilon)$ and is restricted in this strip. We now show that its bound is not more than exponential on N.

Lemma 2. There exist real a, b and $C_1, C_2 > 0$, such that

$$C_1 e^{aN} < \left|\varphi(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})\varphi^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < C_2 e^{bN}$$

in the strip $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, N, \varepsilon)$.

Proof. First of all note that the bounds for the product $r(z|\omega)$ do not depend on N for any strip $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, N, \varepsilon)$ (the bound (3.14) doesn't depend on the range of θ). We just have to estimate the ratio $s(z|\omega)s^{-1}(z+g|\omega)$ in the strip $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, N, \varepsilon)$. This product can be divided into two parts: one is an infinite convergent product

$$s_{\infty}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{\prod\limits_{m \ge N} \left(1 - \tilde{q}^{2m} e^{2\pi \imath \frac{z}{\omega_1}}\right)}{\prod\limits_{m \ge N+N_0} \left(1 - \tilde{q}^{2m} e^{2\pi \imath \frac{z+g}{\omega_1}}\right)},$$
(3.23)

which after the change of the product indices can be evaluated in the strip $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, N, \varepsilon)$ independently of N

$$\frac{\xi'_d(\varepsilon)}{\eta'_d(\varepsilon)} < |s_{\infty}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})| < \frac{\eta'_d(\varepsilon)}{\xi'_d(\varepsilon)},\tag{3.24}$$

where $\xi'_d(\varepsilon)$ and $\eta'_d(\varepsilon)$ are given in (3.17); and another is a finite product

$$s_{0}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{\prod_{1 \leq m < N} \left(1 - \tilde{q}^{2m} e^{2\pi i \frac{z}{\omega_{1}}}\right)}{\prod_{1 \leq m < N+N_{0}} \left(1 - \tilde{q}^{2m} e^{2\pi i \frac{z+g}{\omega_{1}}}\right)}$$
$$= \frac{\tilde{q}^{-N(N-1)} e^{2\pi i (N-1) \frac{z'}{\omega_{1}}}}{\tilde{q}^{-(N+N_{0})(N+N_{0}-1)} e^{2\pi i (N+N_{0}-1) \frac{z''}{\omega_{1}}}} \cdot \frac{\prod_{1 \leq m < N} \left(\tilde{q}^{2m} e^{-2\pi i \frac{z'}{\omega_{1}}} - 1\right)}{\prod_{1 \leq m < N+N_{0}} \left(\tilde{q}^{2m} e^{-2\pi i \frac{z''}{\omega_{1}}} - 1\right)},$$
(3.25)

where both $z' = z - N\omega_2$ and $z'' = z + g - (N + N_0)\omega_2$ are now in the strip $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, 0, \varepsilon) = \Pi_{1,+}(t_0, \varepsilon)$. The second fraction can be bounded from both sides independently of N with a help of analogous infinite product, that is

$$\frac{\xi_d'(\varepsilon)}{\eta_d'(\varepsilon)} < \left| \frac{\prod\limits_{1 \le m < N} \left(\tilde{q}^{2m} e^{-2\pi i \frac{\varepsilon'}{\omega_1}} - 1 \right)}{\prod\limits_{1 \le m < N + N_0} \left(\tilde{q}^{2m} e^{-2\pi i \frac{\varepsilon''}{\omega_1}} - 1 \right)} \right| < \frac{\eta_d'(\varepsilon)}{\xi_d'(\varepsilon)}$$
(3.26)

The estimate of the first one is also pure exponential

$$C_{1}e^{2\pi dN(2\varepsilon-1-N_{0})} < |\tilde{q}|^{2N_{0}N+N_{0}(N_{0}-1)}e^{2\pi d(N-1)(\theta'-\theta'')}e^{-2\pi dN_{0}} < C_{2}e^{2\pi dN(1-2\varepsilon-N_{0})}$$
(3.27)

This ends the proof of Lemma 2.

Analogous statement holds for the function $\varphi'(z|\omega)$ in corresponding strips.

For each $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ and positive integers M, N denote by $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, N, M, \varepsilon)$ the bounded open region

$$\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, M, N, \varepsilon) = \{ z = t\omega_1 + \theta\omega_2 \mid t_0 < t < N, \ M + \varepsilon < \theta < M + 1 - \varepsilon \}.$$
(3.28)

Lemma 2, its analog for the function $\varphi'(z|\omega)$ and the relations (3.7) immediately imply the following corollary.

Corollary 1. The ratio $S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ admits a two sided exponential bound in the region $\Pi_{1,+}(t_0, M, N, \varepsilon)$

$$C_1 e^{a(N+M)} < |S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})| < C_2 e^{b(N+M)}$$
(3.29)

for some real a, b and $C_1, C_2 > 0$.

Remark. Analogous exponential bounds hold for the regions

$$\Pi_{2,+}(t_0, M, N, \varepsilon) = \{z = t\omega_2 + \theta\omega_1 \mid t_0 < t < N, \ M + \varepsilon < \theta < M + 1 - \varepsilon\}$$

$$\Pi_{1,-}(t_0, M, N, \varepsilon) = \{z = -t\omega_1 - \theta\omega_2 \mid t_0 < t < N, \ M + \varepsilon < \theta < M + 1 - \varepsilon\}$$

$$\Pi_{2,-}(t_0, M, N, \varepsilon) = \{z = -t\omega_2 + \theta\omega_1 \mid t_0 < t < N, \ M + \varepsilon < \theta < M + 1 - \varepsilon\}$$

(3.30)

The proofs are similar.

Corollary 2. For big negative values of the real part of the parameter λ the integral in the left hand side of (3.5) can be computed by residues calculation, moving the integration contours to the lower half plane; and the integral in the right hand side of (3.5) can be also computed by residues calculation, moving the integration contours to the upper half plane.

Proof. The residue calculation means that the initial straight contour in the integral in the left hand side of (3.5) is enclosed by a contour where, for instance,

$$|y_1| \gg |y_2| \gg \ldots \gg |y_n| \gg 1, \qquad \operatorname{Im} y_i < 0$$

and we argue that the integral over this enclosing contour tends to zero when the contour grows. For each variable y_i its integration contour is either lies in the regular region for all occurring function $S(iy_i - a_j)S^{-1}(iy_i + g - a_j)$ or in the cones of singularities of these functions. In the part of the contour close to the real line, we apply the bound given in Proposition 6 in Appendix B. In the next part of the contour which lies in the regular region $\mathbb{C}\setminus D$, using the general statements about at most exponential growth, see (A.29), (A.33), we suppress the integrand by fast decreasing exponent $e^{2\pi i\lambda y_n}$ with sufficiently big negative values of Re λ . Inside the irregular cone D we put the contour into proper regions $\prod_{k,\pm}(t_i, M_i, N_i, \varepsilon_i), k = 1, 2$ for sufficiently large M_i and N_i . In the proper regions all functions grow at most exponentially, see Corollary 1 and remark after it, therefore we suppress them by fast decreasing exponent $e^{2\pi i\lambda y_n}$ as well. The same procedure for the integral in the right hand side of (3.5).

In the case n = 1 the Q-commutativity integral (3.4) is one-dimensional

$$Q_1(z_1, z_2; \lambda) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}y_1 \, K(z_1 - y_1) K(z_2 - y_1) \, e^{2\pi i \lambda y_1}, \qquad (3.31)$$

and the corresponding enclosing contour $C_{N,M}$ that appears when we calculate it by residues

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} = \int_{C_{N,M}} + \sum \text{Res}$$
(3.32)



FIGURE 2. The contour in the case n = 1. We denoted $z_j^* = z_j - ig^*/2$ and for clarity circled all labeled poles

is shown in Fig. 2. There are two sequences of poles in the lower half-plane

$$y_1 = z_j - \frac{ig^*}{2} - im^1\omega_1 - im^2\omega_2, \qquad j = 1, 2, \quad m^i \ge 0.$$
 (3.33)

Small circles around poles in Fig. 2 are restricted regions: the broken line stays away from the poles at the distance more than their radii (consequently, we have fixed exponent parameters a, b from Corollary 1). The angle σ is determined from the condition (B.16), so that we have exponentially decreasing bound near the real line given in Proposition 6. The integers N, M are chosen such that the contour $C_{N,M}$ passes right above the pole $z_1 - ig^*/2 - iN\omega_2$ from the left and the pole $z_2 - ig^*/2 - iM\omega_1$ from the right.

3.2. Reduction to Simple Poles

3.2.1. Chains of Integrals and Double Zeros Lemma. Denote by F the integrand of the left hand side of Q-commutativity relation (3.4)

$$F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) = e^{2\pi i \lambda \underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_{n}} \prod_{a=1}^{2n} \prod_{i=1}^{n} K(y_{i} - z_{a}) \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i \neq j}}^{n} \mu(y_{i} - y_{j}).$$
(3.34)

We integrate this function over y_j by residues in the order of increasing indices. Let G_m be the result of m successive integrations

$$G_m(y_{m+1},\ldots,y_n,\boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}y_m \cdots \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathrm{d}y_1 F(\boldsymbol{y}_n,\boldsymbol{z}_{2n}).$$
(3.35)

Moving contours to the lower half-plane we meet poles of the function $K(y_i - z_a)$

$$iy_i = iz_a + \frac{g^*}{2} + m^1\omega_1 + m^2\omega_2, \qquad iy_i = iz_a - \frac{g^*}{2} - m^1\omega_1 - m^2\omega_2 \quad (3.36)$$

and of the function $\mu(y_i - y_j)$

$$iy_i = iy_j + g + m^1 \omega_1 + m^2 \omega_2, \qquad iy_i = iy_j - g - m^1 \omega_1 - m^2 \omega_2$$
 (3.37)

where $m^1, m^2 \ge 0$. Below we prove (see Proposition 1) that the resulting function G_m can be written solely in terms of two typical residue integrals with simple poles.

The first typical integral is $J_1(z_a|b, m^1, m^2)$. It depends on a complex parameter z_a , on the index b of the variable y_b and on the pair (m^1, m^2) of non-negative integers. It is given by one-dimensional residue

$$J_1(z_a|b, m^1, m^2) = -2\pi i \operatorname{Res}_{iy_b = iz_a + \frac{g^*}{2} + m^1\omega_1 + m^2\omega_2} F(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}).$$
(3.38)

Additionally, it is a function of all other parameters z_c and variables y_j different from y_b . This residue is nonzero due to the poles of functions K (3.36).

The second typical integral is k-fold residue integral $I_k(y_{i_0}|i_k, m_k)$. It depends on a complex valued variable y_{i_0} with $i_0 \in [n] = \{1, \ldots, n\}$, on a sequence i_k of k distinct indices

$$\mathbf{i}_k = (i_1, \dots, i_k), \qquad i_a \in [n] \setminus \{i_0\}$$

corresponding to variables y_{i_a} in (3.34), and on two non-negative sequences of k integers

$$\boldsymbol{m}_k = (m_1^1, \dots, m_k^1; m_1^2, \dots, m_k^2), \qquad m_j^i \ge 0.$$

We define $I_k(y_{i_0}|i_k, m_k)$ as the following k-fold residue integral

$$I_{k}(y_{i_{0}}|\boldsymbol{i}_{k},\boldsymbol{m}_{k}) = (-2\pi i)^{k} \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i_{1}}=iy_{i_{0}}+g+m_{1}^{1}\omega_{1}+m_{1}^{2}\omega_{2}} \cdots \cdots \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i_{k}}=iy_{i_{k-1}}+g+m_{k}^{1}\omega_{1}+m_{k}^{2}\omega_{2}} F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n},\boldsymbol{z}_{2n}).$$
(3.39)

Additionally, it is a function of parameters z_a and all variables y_j which are not engaged in the integration procedure. It naturally refers to the point

$$iy_{i_1} = iy_{i_0} + g + m_1^1 \omega_1 + m_1^2 \omega_2,$$

$$iy_{i_2} = iy_{i_0} + 2g + (m_1^1 + m_2^1)\omega_1 + (m_1^2 + m_2^2)\omega_2,$$

$$\vdots$$

$$iy_{i_k} = iy_{i_0} + kg + (m_1^1 + \ldots + m_k^1)\omega_1 + (m_1^2 + \ldots + m_k^2)\omega_2.$$

(3.40)

This residue is nonzero due to the poles of functions μ (3.37). Note that, although in G_m (3.35) we integrate over y_{i_a} in the order of increasing indices i_a , the multidimensional pole (3.40) is simple, so the definition (3.39) does not depend on the order of residues.

We name the integrals $J_1(z_a|b, m^1, m^2)$ and $I_k(y_{i_0}|i_k, m_k)$ as **chain integrals** and picture them as chains of vertices with the corresponding labels, see Fig. 3. Note that length of the line in J_1 -chain is twice smaller than in



FIGURE 3. Chain integrals

 I_k -chains. This rule reflects difference between constants $g^*/2$ and g in residue points of chain integrals.

The chain integrals are parametrized by the cycles in the space of corresponding integration variables. It is natural to define the **direct product** of chain integrals as the integrals over direct products of corresponding cycles. More precisely, assume that all the variables y_{i_a} of the first chain integral including integration variables and the free variable are different from those of the second chain integral. Then, the direct product of these two chain integrals is defined as the integral over corresponding product of the contours. For instance, the direct product

$$I_k(y_{i_0}|\boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k) \times I_l(y_{i'_0}|\boldsymbol{i}'_l, \boldsymbol{m}'_l)$$

of two chain integrals is defined for disjoint sets i_k and i'_l and generic parameters y_{i_0} and $y_{i'_0}$ as k + l fold residue integral

$$(-2\pi i)^{k+l} \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i_1}=iy_{i_0}+g+m_1^1\omega_1+m_1^2\omega_2} \cdots \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i_k}=iy_{i_{k-1}}+g+m_k^1\omega_1+m_k^2\omega_2} \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i'_1}=iy_{i'_0}+g+m'_1^1\omega_1+m'_1^2\omega_2} \cdots \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i'_l}=iy_{i'_{l-1}}+g+m'_1^1\omega_1+m'_1^2\omega_2} F(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$$

A direct product of integrals will be pictured simply by placing the corresponding chains next to each other, see Fig. 4.

The main technical result of this subsection is the following statement.

Proposition 1. For generic $\boldsymbol{\omega}$, g and \boldsymbol{z}_{2n} the function $G_m(y_{m+1}, \ldots, y_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$ defined by (3.35) is a sum of all possible direct products of chains $J_1(z_a)$





$$G_{2} = \begin{array}{cccc} y_{i} & y_{j} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ z_{a} & z_{b} \end{array} + \begin{array}{cccc} y_{i} & y_{3} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ z_{a} & z_{b} \end{array} + \begin{array}{cccc} y_{i} \\ \vdots \\ y_{j} \\ y_{j} \end{array} + \begin{array}{ccccc} y_{3} \\ \vdots \\ y_{i} \\ y_{j} \\ y_{j} \end{array} + \begin{array}{cccccc} \{i, j\} = \{1, 2\}, \\ \{a, b\} \subset \{1, \dots, 6\} \\ \{a, b\} \subset \{1, \dots, 6\} \end{array}$$

FIGURE 5. All possible direct products for n = 3, m = 2. The sum over all possible edge parameters and indices i, j, a, b is implied

 b, m^1, m^2) and $I_k(y_{i_0}|i_k, m_k)$, such that parameters z_a are distinct inside each summand and indices of integration variables do not exceed m.

Note that the function $G_n(\emptyset, \mathbf{z}_{2n})$ coincides with the integral (3.4)

$$G_n(\emptyset, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) = Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_{2n}; \lambda). \tag{3.41}$$

An immediate corollary of Proposition 1 is the following observation.

Corollary 3. The integral in the left hand side of (3.5) is the sum of all possible direct products of one-dimensional residues $J_1(z_a|b, m^1, m^2)$ with distinct z_a .

Indeed, in this case free parameters of possible chains could not be any integration variables y_a , so we have a sum of direct products of chain integrals $J_1(z_a|b, m^1, m^2)$. The same result holds for the right hand side of (3.5).

For the proof of Proposition 1, we need the following property of zeros location of the measure function $\mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n)$. Choose a pair of variables, say y_1 and y_2 . Let

$$iy_1 = a + \varepsilon + p^1 \omega_1 + p^2 \omega_2, \quad iy_2 = a + q^1 \omega_1 + q^2 \omega_2, \quad p^i, q^i \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (3.42)

Set

$$m^1 = p^1 - q^1, \qquad m^2 = p^2 - q^2.$$

of

Let the operator τ_{12}^{1,m^1} permute p^1 and q^1 and the operator τ_{12}^{2,m^2} permute p^2 and q^2 , so that

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{12}^{1,m^1} F(y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) \\ &= F(a + \varepsilon + q^1 \omega_1 + p^2 \omega_2, a + p^1 \omega_1 + q^2 \omega_2, \dots, y_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}), \\ \tau_{12}^{2,m^2} F(y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) \\ &= F(a + \varepsilon + p^1 \omega_1 + q^2 \omega_2, a + q^1 \omega_1 + p^2 \omega_2, \dots, y_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}). \end{aligned}$$

In other words, the operators τ_{12}^{1,m^1} and τ_{12}^{2,m^2} are the following shift operators:

$$\tau_{12}^{1,m^1} \begin{pmatrix} iy_1\\ iy_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} iy_1 - m^1\omega_1\\ iy_2 + m^1\omega_1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \tau_{12}^{2,m^2} \begin{pmatrix} iy_1\\ iy_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} iy_1 - m^2\omega_2\\ iy_2 + m^2\omega_2 \end{pmatrix}. \quad (3.43)$$

Lemma 3. For generic a, variables y_i and parameters z_b

$$(1 + \tau_{12}^{1,m^1})(1 + \tau_{12}^{2,m^2})F(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) = O(\varepsilon^2), \qquad \varepsilon \to 0.$$
 (3.44)

In other words, the sum of four summands

$$F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) + \tau_{12}^{1,m^{1}} F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) + \tau_{12}^{2,m^{2}} F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) + \tau_{12}^{1,m^{1}} \tau_{12}^{2,m^{2}} F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$$
(3.45)

has zero of the second order at the hyperplane

$$i(y_1 - y_2) = m^1 \omega_1 + m^2 \omega_2.$$
(3.46)

Proof of Lemma 3. Note that shift operators in (3.44) act only on y_1, y_2 . Denote by A the part of function F that does not depend on y_1, y_2

$$F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) = e^{2\pi i \lambda (y_{1} + y_{2})} A(y_{3}, \dots, y_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) B(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}).$$
(3.47)

The exponent is invariant under the shifts. Using reflection formula

$$S_2^{-1}(z) = S_2(\omega_1 + \omega_2 - z) \tag{3.48}$$

we can write the remaining part B in the form

$$B = S_2(i(y_1 - y_2)) S_2(i(y_2 - y_1)) S_2(i(y_1 - y_2) + g^*) S_2(i(y_2 - y_1) + g^*)$$

$$\times \prod_{(b,b')} S_2(iy_1 - b) S_2(iy_2 - b) S_2(b' - iy_1) S_2(b' - iy_2), \qquad (3.49)$$

where pairs (b, b') contain all other variables y_j, z_a $(j \neq 1, 2)$ and constants. Moreover, the first two functions can be written as (A.5)

$$S_2(i(y_1 - y_2))S_2(i(y_2 - y_1)) = -4\sin\frac{i\pi}{\omega_1}(y_1 - y_2)\sin\frac{i\pi}{\omega_2}(y_1 - y_2).$$
 (3.50)

For the variables y_1, y_2 at the points (3.42) we use the last formula with a factorization property (A.10)

$$S_2(z+p^1\omega_1+p^2\omega_2) = (-1)^{p_1p_2} \frac{S_2(z+p^1\omega_1)S_2(z+p^2\omega_2)}{S_2(z)}, \qquad p^j \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(3.51)

to separate coordinates p^j, q^j in the function B

$$B(p^1, q^1; p^2, q^2) = C B_1(p^1, q^1) B_2(p^2, q^2)$$
(3.52)

where C does not depend on any p^j , q^j . The signs coming from (3.51) disappear since each of them occurs an even number of times. Clearly, B_j differ only by ω_j . Therefore, it is sufficient to prove that

$$(1 + \tau_{12}^{1,m^1})B_1(p^1, q^1) = O(\varepsilon).$$
(3.53)

Evaluating B_1 at $\varepsilon = 0$ we obtain a function antisymmetric with respect to p^1, q^1 :

$$B_{1}(p^{1},q^{1})\big|_{\varepsilon=0} = (-1)^{p^{1}+q^{1}} \sin \frac{\pi \omega_{1}}{\omega_{2}}(p^{1}-q^{1}) S_{2}((p^{1}-q^{1})\omega_{1}+g^{*}) S_{2}((q^{1}-p^{1})\omega_{1}+g^{*}) \times \prod_{(b,b')} S_{2}(p^{1}\omega_{1}+a-b) S_{2}(q^{1}\omega_{1}+a-b) S_{2}(b'-a-p^{1}\omega_{1}) S_{2}(b'-a-q^{1}\omega_{1}).$$

$$(3.54)$$

Since all functions in B_1 are analytic, the identity (3.53) follows.

Now let \mathbf{m}_k again denote two sequences of integers (without requiring them to be non-negative)

$$\boldsymbol{m}_k = (m_1^1, \dots, m_k^1; m_1^2, \dots, m_k^2), \qquad m_j^i \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

We attach to this sequence 2k shift operators τ_{12}^{1,m_k} , τ_{12}^{2,m_k} , \ldots $\tau_{2k-1,2k}^{1,m_k}$, $\tau_{2k-1,2k}^{2,m_k}$, so that

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_{2j-1,2j}^{1,m_k} \begin{pmatrix} \imath y_{2j-1} \\ \imath y_{2j} \end{pmatrix} &= \begin{pmatrix} \imath y_{2j-1} - m_j^1 \omega_1 \\ \imath y_{2j} + m_j^1 \omega_1 \end{pmatrix}, \\ \tau_{2j-1,2j}^{2,m_k} \begin{pmatrix} \imath y_{2j-1} \\ \imath y_{2j} \end{pmatrix} &= \begin{pmatrix} \imath y_{2j-1} - m_j^2 \omega_2 \\ \imath y_{2j} + m_j^2 \omega_2 \end{pmatrix}. \end{aligned}$$

Set

$$\varepsilon_1 = i(y_1 - y_2) - (m_1^1 \omega_1 + m_1^2 \omega_2), \qquad \dots \varepsilon_k = i(y_{2k-1} - y_{2k}) - (m_k^1 \omega_1 + m_k^2 \omega_2),$$

and denote by $F_k(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$ the sum of 4^k summands

$$F_{k}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) = \left(\prod_{j=1}^{k} \left(1 + \tau_{2j-1, 2j}^{1, \boldsymbol{m}_{k}}\right) \left(1 + \tau_{2j-1, 2j}^{2, \boldsymbol{m}_{k}}\right)\right) F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$$
(3.55)

The following statement is a direct consequence of Lemma 3.

Lemma 4. The function $F_k(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$ has zero of order 2k on the intersection of hyperplanes

$$\varepsilon_1 = \ldots = \varepsilon_k = 0. \tag{3.56}$$

Moreover, its Taylor expansion in a generic point of the plane (3.56) starts from $\varepsilon_1^2 \cdots \varepsilon_k^2$

$$F_k(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) = \varepsilon_1^2 \cdots \varepsilon_k^2 \cdot H_k(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}), \qquad (3.57)$$

where $H_k(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$ is regular at generic point of (3.56).

Proof. Using Lemma 3 for generic values of all the variables and parameters, we have

$$(1+\tau_{2j-1,2j}^{1,\boldsymbol{m}_{k}})(1+\tau_{2j-1,2j}^{2,\boldsymbol{m}_{k}})F(\boldsymbol{y}_{n},\boldsymbol{z}_{2n})=\varepsilon_{j}^{2}\cdot H_{j}(\boldsymbol{y}_{n},\boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$$

for any j = 1, ..., k, where $H_i(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n})$ is analytic function on the hyperplane

$$i(y_{2j-1} - y_{2j}) = m_j^1 \omega_1 + m_j^2 \omega_2$$

and in particular on the plane (3.56). Since all operators $\tau_{2j-1,2j}^{1,m_k}$ in the product (3.55) commute, the same is true for the total expression F_k . So, F_k is analytic with respect to ε_i and has zero of the second order at $\varepsilon_i = 0$ for all j. Then its Taylor expansion in ε_i starts with the $\varepsilon_1^2 \cdots \varepsilon_k^2$ term. \square

3.2.2. Induction Step: Fusion of Chain Integrals. We are ready now to prove the induction step of Proposition 1. We regard the result $G_m(y_{m+1},\ldots,y_n,z_{2n})$ of the first m integrations as an analytical function of parameters y_{m+1}, \ldots, y_n , z_{2n} . Thus, during the integration over the variable y_{m+1} we can assume that all the parameters $y_{m+2}, \ldots, y_n, z_{2n}$ are generic so that there are no singularities between different factors in each summand of $G_m(y_{m+1},\ldots,y_n,z_{2n})$. It means that the induction step reduces to the consideration of the fusions of chain integrals (3.38) and (3.39). Namely, we now consider one-dimensional integrals

$$\operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i_0}=iy_{j_0}+c} I_k\left(y_{i_0}|\boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k\right) \times I_l\left(y_{j_0}|\boldsymbol{j}_l, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}_l\right), \qquad (3.58)$$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i_0}=iy_{j_0}+c} I_k(y_{i_0}|\boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k) \times I_l(y_{j_0}|\boldsymbol{j}_l, \boldsymbol{m}_l), \qquad (3.58)$$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i_0}=iz_j+c} I_k(y_{i_0}|\boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k) \times J_1(z_a|b, \tilde{m}^1, \tilde{m}^2), \qquad (3.59)$$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{iy_{i_0}=iz_i+c} I_k\left(y_{i_0}|\boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k\right).$$

$$(3.60)$$

Below we prove that all such residues cancel each other, except ones that form new chain integrals I_{k+l+1} and J_1 . Having in mind that in the original integral (3.4) all the parameters were real, we assume that in the first integral the variable y_{j_0} is real and in the second and third integrals the parameter z_a is also real.

Consider the residue (3.58) first. For better convenience denote the variables y_{i_a} taking part in the integral $I_k(y_{i_0}|i_k, m_k)$ by letters x_{i_a} . The residue (3.58) could be nonzero only if the integration variable x_{i_0} meets the point corresponding to the pole of the measure function either

$$S(i(y_{j_b} - x_{i_a}) + g^*)$$
 or $S(i(x_{i_a} - y_{j_b}) + g^*).$ (3.61)

This happens when the variables $i(y_{j_b} - x_{i_a})$ or $i(x_{i_a} - y_{j_b})$ in the arguments of the functions in (3.61) equal to $g + m^1 \omega_1 + m^2 \omega_2$ for some non-negative integers m^1 and m^2 , see (A.11). Moreover, a number of such singularities can appear together giving a multiple pole. A typical example is shown in Fig. 6. The pairs of numbers on each edge indicate corresponding integers m^1 and m^2 . When one of them is negative, the corresponding edge is dashed, which means the missing of the corresponding singularity. In the case of the multiple singularity instead of single fusion integral, we consider the fusion of several summands of the function $G_m(y_{m+1}, \ldots, y_n, z_{2n})$ which fit using of Lemma 4.



FIGURE 6. Fusions of chains with different edge parameters. Solid lines correspond to singularities



FIGURE 7. The pole (3.62) with a = 0, b = 2

We then justify that such sum either vanishes or it is given by a simple residue of the first order which we analyze further.

Consider each type of singularity (3.61) separately. In the first singularity imposed by the pole of $S(i(y_{j_b} - x_{i_a}) + g^*)$, we have the relation

$$iy_{j_b} = ix_{i_a} + g + p^1\omega_1 + p^2\omega_2, \qquad p^1, p^2 \ge 0.$$
 (3.62)

In the second

$$ix_{i_a} = iy_{j_b} + g + q^1\omega_1 + q^2\omega_2, \qquad q^1, q^2 \ge 0.$$
(3.63)

Consider the first case (3.62), example is shown in Fig. 7.

If a < k, then in the chain I_k there is a variable $x_{i_{a+1}}$ such that

$$i x_{i_{a+1}} = i x_{i_a} + g + m_{a+1}^1 \omega_1 + m_{a+1}^2 \omega_2, \qquad m_{a+1}^1, m_{a+1}^2 \ge 0,$$
(3.64)

and at the residue point we have the relation

$$iy_{j_b} = ix_{i_{a+1}} + n^1\omega_1 + n^2\omega_2, \qquad n^i = p^i - m^i_{a+1}.$$
(3.65)

This relation coincides with the hyperplane from Lemma 3, which we apply as follows. By definition (3.43) shift operators $\tau_{j_b,i_{a+1}}^{i,n^i}$ act on the variables y_{j_b} , $y_{i_{a+1}} \equiv x_{i_{a+1}}$ as

$$\tau_{j_{b},i_{a+1}}^{1,n^{1}} \begin{pmatrix} iy_{j_{b}} \\ ix_{i_{a+1}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} iy_{j_{b}} - n^{1}\omega_{1} \\ ix_{i_{a+1}} + n^{1}\omega_{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tau_{j_{b},i_{a+1}}^{2,n^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} iy_{j_{b}} \\ ix_{i_{a+1}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} iy_{j_{b}} - n^{2}\omega_{2} \\ ix_{i_{a+1}} + n^{2}\omega_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.66)

In our case y_{j_b} , $x_{i_{a+1}}$ are integration variables inside the residue integral (3.58). By action of shift operators on the residue integral we assume action on its residue points, for instance

$$\tau_{j_b,i_{a+1}}^{1,n^1} \operatorname{Res}_{\imath x_{i_{a+1}}=\imath x_{i_a}+g+m_{a+1}^1\omega_1+m_{a+1}^2\omega_2} = \operatorname{Res}_{\imath x_{i_{a+1}}=\imath x_{i_a}+g+(m_{a+1}^1-n^1)\omega_1+m_{a+1}^2\omega_2}.$$
(3.67)

Then, instead of the single residue integral (3.58) consider the sum of four integrals

$$\operatorname{Res}_{ix_{i_0}=iy_{j_0}+c}\left(1+\tau_{j_b,i_{a+1}}^{1,n^1}\right)\left(1+\tau_{j_b,i_{a+1}}^{2,n^2}\right)I_k\left(x_{i_0}|\boldsymbol{i}_k,\boldsymbol{m}_k\right)\times I_l\left(y_{j_0}|\boldsymbol{j}_l,\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}_l\right).$$
(3.68)

Here

$$c = (b - a - 1)g + (\tilde{m}_1^1 + \ldots + \tilde{m}_b^1 - m_1^1 - \ldots - m_a^1 - p^1)\omega_1 + (\tilde{m}_1^2 + \ldots + \tilde{m}_b^2 - m_1^2 - \ldots - m_a^2 - p^2)\omega_2,$$
(3.69)

where p^1 and p^2 are given by (3.62). The four residue integrals (3.68) differ by parameters on the edges. At the same time by induction assumption the function G_m (3.35) equals the sum of all possible chain integrals. In particular, it contains direct products $I_k \times I_l$ with all possible non-negative edge parameters

$$\sum_{m_j^i, \tilde{m}_j^i \ge 0} I_k\left(x_{i_0} | \boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k\right) \times I_l\left(y_{j_0} | \boldsymbol{j}_l, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}_l\right).$$
(3.70)

Parameters on the edges in the shifted integrals from the sum (3.68) could be negative, depending on the integers \boldsymbol{m}_k , $\tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}_l$, p^i . However, the chain integral with at least one negative edge parameter equals zero, since, as we noted earlier, the residues in it can be taken in any order and

$$\operatorname{Res}_{iy_i=iy_j+g+h^1\omega_1+h^2\omega_2} F(\boldsymbol{y}_n, \boldsymbol{z}_{2n}) = 0, \qquad (3.71)$$

unless both $h^i \ge 0$. Thus, all of the four residue integrals in (3.68) either are contained in the sum (3.70) or equal to zero.

To apply Lemma 3 to the sum (3.68), we shift the integration variables in each integral in order to remove the dependence on edge parameters from residue points. For the chain integral $I_k(x_{i_0}|i_k, m_k)$ in (3.68), we define new integration variables \tilde{x}_{i_s} by the following shifts

$$ix_{i_0} = i\tilde{x}_{i_0} + c,$$

$$ix_{i_1} = i\tilde{x}_{i_1} + g + m_1^1\omega_1 + m_1^2\omega_2 + c,$$

$$ix_{i_2} = i\tilde{x}_{i_2} + 2g + (m_1^1 + m_2^1)\omega_1 + (m_1^2 + m_2^2)\omega_2 + c,$$

$$\vdots$$

$$ix_{i_k} = i\tilde{x}_{i_k} + kg + (m_1^1 + \ldots + m_k^1)\omega_1 + (m_1^2 + \ldots + m_k^2)\omega_2 + c$$
(3.72)

and similarly for all other chain integrals in the sum (3.68). Now only the integrands depend on edge parameters. Denote two tuples

$$\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1} = (x_{i_0}, \dots, x_{i_k}), \qquad \boldsymbol{y}_{l+1} = (y_{j_0}, \dots, y_{j_l})$$
 (3.73)

with components given by the formulas (3.72) and analogous ones with y_{j_d} . Then, we rewrite (3.68) as one single residue integral

$$\operatorname{Res}_{i\tilde{x}_{i_0}=i\tilde{y}_{j_0}} \prod_{s=1}^k \operatorname{Res}_{i\tilde{x}_{i_s}=i\tilde{x}_{i_{s-1}}} \prod_{s=1}^l \operatorname{Res}_{i\tilde{y}_{j_s}=i\tilde{y}_{j_{s-1}}} (3.74) (1+\tau_{j_b,i_{a+1}}^{1,n^1}) (1+\tau_{j_b,i_{a+1}}^{2,n^2}) F(\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1},\boldsymbol{y}_{l+1},\ldots).$$

Here by dots we mean all other variables of the integrand. Lemma 3 says that the integrand in the last formula has additional zero of the order two at the hyperplane (3.65). This double zero compensates two possible simple singularities along the hyperplanes

$$iy_{j_b} = ix_{i_a} + g + p^1\omega_1 + p^2\omega_2,$$
 and $iy_{j_{b-1}} = ix_{i_{a+1}} + g + r^1\omega_1 + r^2\omega_2.$
(3.75)

The same statement holds for the singularity (3.63) once b < k.

Note also that due to inequalities $p^i \ge 0$, $m^i_{i_{a+1}} \ge 0$, $\operatorname{Re} g \ge 0$ $\operatorname{Re} \omega_i \ge 0$, all the new points the shifted variables iy_{j_b} and $ix_{i_{a+1}}$ have positive real part once the variable ix_{i_a} does have.

Suppose there are no singularities in the residue integral (3.58) except (3.75). Then we cancel this integral applying Lemma 3 in the described way. Next assume there are other singularities besides (3.75). Among all pairs with singularities let y_{j_b}, x_{i_a} be the one with the smallest index *a* (upper diagonal line). The corresponding singularity is of the type either (3.62) or (3.63). Consider the first case (3.62). Denote

$$r = \min(k - a - 1, l - b), \tag{3.76}$$

see example in Fig. 8.

Then, there are r+1 pairs of variables $y_{j_{b+\alpha}}, x_{i_{a+1+\alpha}}$ with $\alpha \in \{0, \ldots, r\}$, for which we have relations

$$iy_{j_b} = ix_{i_{a+1}} + n_{a,b}^1 \omega_1 + n_{a,b}^2 \omega_2, \quad \dots \quad iy_{j_{b+r}} = ix_{i_{a+1+r}} + n_{a+r,b+r}^1 \omega_1 + n_{a+r,b+r}^2 \omega_2.$$
(3.77)



FIGURE 8. Third order pole with a = 0, b = 1 and r = 1

Now we apply Lemma 4 for the intersection of hyperplanes (3.77) repeating the procedure described above for Lemma 3. Let us consider the sum of 4^{r+1} integrals

$$\operatorname{Res}_{ix_{i_0}=iy_{j_0}+c} T_{kl} I_k \left(x_{i_0} | \boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k \right) I_l \left(y_{j_0} | \boldsymbol{j}_l, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}_l \right)$$
(3.78)

where T_{kl} denotes the sum of shift operators

$$T_{kl} = \prod_{\alpha=0}^{r} \left(1 + \tau_{j_{b+\alpha}, i_{a+1+\alpha}}^{1, n_{a+\alpha, b+\alpha}^1} \right) \left(1 + \tau_{j_{b+\alpha}, i_{a+1+\alpha}}^{2, n_{a+\alpha, b+\alpha}^2} \right).$$
(3.79)

This operator shifts the parameters on the edges of chain integrals I_k , I_l . The arguments above show that all such integrals are either contained in the sum (3.70) or equal to zero. Therefore, we can consider the sum (3.78) instead of the single residue (3.58).

Making linear changes of variables analogous to (3.72), we may regard this sum of integrals as a residue integral

$$\operatorname{Res}_{i\tilde{x}_{i_0}=i\tilde{y}_{j_0}} \prod_{s=1}^k \operatorname{Res}_{i\tilde{x}_{i_s}=i\tilde{x}_{i_{s-1}}} \prod_{s=1}^l \operatorname{Res}_{i\tilde{y}_{j_s}=i\tilde{y}_{j_{s-1}}} T_{kl} F(\boldsymbol{x}_{k+1}, \boldsymbol{y}_{l+1}, \dots),$$
(3.80)

where x_{k+1} components are given by (3.72) and similarly for y_{l+1} . By Lemma 4 the number of poles in this one-dimensional integral could exceed the number of zeros of integrand by one only in two cases.

I. We have the singularity

$$iy_{j_d} = ix_{i_k} + g + p^1 \omega_1 + p^2 \omega_2, \qquad p^1, p^2 \ge 0.$$
 (3.81)

II. We have the singularity

$$ix_{i_d} = iy_{j_l} + g + q^1\omega_1 + q^2\omega_2, \qquad q^1, q^2 \ge 0.$$
(3.82)

Otherwise the sum (3.78) vanishes. Similarly, for the residue between pair of variables x_{i_a}, y_{j_b} of the second type (3.63) we have vanishing sum, unless the same two cases.

Consider the case **I**. Note that d > 0 since otherwise $\operatorname{Im} x_{i_0} > 0$. Define two new chain integrals $I_{k+l-d+1}(x_{i_0}|i'_{k+l-d+1}, m'_{k+l-d+1})$ and $I_{d-1}(y_{j_0}|j'_{d-1})$.



FIGURE 9. Singularity of the type (3.81) with d = 2 and the corresponding pair of new chains from the right

 \tilde{m}_{d-1}') as follows

$$s \le k: \qquad i'_{s} = i_{s}, \qquad m'_{s}^{i} = m_{s}^{i}, s = k + 1: \qquad i'_{k+1} = j_{d}, \qquad m'_{k+1}^{i} = p^{i}, s > k + 1: \qquad i'_{s} = j_{d-1+s-k}, \qquad m'_{s}^{i} = \tilde{m}_{d-1+s-k}^{i}, s < d: \qquad j'_{s} = j_{s}, \qquad \tilde{m}'_{s}^{i} = \tilde{m}_{s}^{i}.$$

$$(3.83)$$

This definition is rather simple in terms of pictures, see example in Fig. 9. The following lemma describes cancellation mechanism for such integrals.

Lemma 5.

$$\operatorname{Res}_{ix_{i_{0}}=iy_{j_{0}}+c} T_{kl} I_{k} (x_{i_{0}} | \boldsymbol{i}_{k}, \boldsymbol{m}_{k}) I_{l} (y_{j_{0}} | \boldsymbol{j}_{l}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}_{l}) + \\\operatorname{Res}_{ix_{i_{0}}=iy_{j_{0}}+c} T_{kl} I_{k+l-d+1} (x_{i_{0}} | \boldsymbol{i}_{k+l-d+1}', \boldsymbol{m}_{k+l-d+1}') I_{d-1} (y_{j_{0}} | \boldsymbol{j}_{d-1}', \tilde{\boldsymbol{m}}_{d-1}') = 0,$$

$$(3.84)$$

where the operator T_{kl} is defined in (3.79).

Proof. Indeed, by the arguments above both integrals are simple residue integrals with the same integrand and singularities. In the shifted variables \tilde{x}_{i_s} and \tilde{y}_{j_s} , all the singularities are at the diagonals

$$\tilde{x}_{i_s} = \tilde{x}_{i_{s+1}}, \quad s = 0, \dots, k-1, \quad \tilde{y}_{j_s} = \tilde{y}_{j_{s+1}}, \quad s = 0, \dots, l-1, \\
\tilde{x}_{i_s} = \tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k}}, \quad s = a, \dots, k, \quad \tilde{x}_{i_{s+1}} = \tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k-1}}, \quad s = a, \dots, k-1, \\
(3.85)$$

where $\tilde{y}_{j_0} = y_{j_0}$. Lemma 4 says that we may present the integrand in the form

$$\frac{\left(\tilde{x}_{i_{a+1}} - \tilde{y}_{j_{a+d-k}}\right)^2 \cdots \left(\tilde{x}_{i_k} - \tilde{y}_{j_{d-1}}\right)^2}{\prod_{s=0}^{k-1} \left(\tilde{x}_{i_s} - \tilde{x}_{i_{s+1}}\right) \prod_{s=0}^{l-1} \left(\tilde{y}_{j_s} - \tilde{y}_{j_{s+1}}\right) \prod_{s=a}^k \left(\tilde{x}_{i_s} - \tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k}}\right) \prod_{s=a}^{k-1} \left(\tilde{x}_{i_{s+1}} - \tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k-1}}\right)}{H\left(\tilde{x}_{k+1}, \tilde{y}_{l+1}\right)}$$

where $H(\tilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{k+1}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{y}}_{l+1})$ does not have singularities on integration contour. Replacing each factor $(\tilde{x}_{i_{s+1}} - \tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k}})^2$ of the nominator by

$$\left((\tilde{x}_{i_s} - \tilde{x}_{i_{s-1}}) + (\tilde{x}_{i_{s-1}} - \tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k}}) \right) \left((\tilde{x}_{i_s} - \tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k-1}}) + (\tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k-1}} - \tilde{y}_{j_{s+d-k}}) \right)$$



FIGURE 10. Two chain integrals give a new one

we obtain the sum of simple fractions such that the number of factors in denominator of each of them equals the number of integration. One can then also note that only one fraction

$$\frac{1}{\left(\tilde{x}_{i_{k}}-\tilde{y}_{j_{d}}\right)\prod_{s=0}^{k-1}\left(\tilde{x}_{i_{s}}-\tilde{x}_{i_{s+1}}\right)\prod_{s=0}^{l-1}\left(\tilde{y}_{j_{s}}-\tilde{y}_{j_{s+1}}\right)}H\left(\tilde{x}_{k+1},\tilde{y}_{l+1}\right)$$
(3.86)

gives non-trivial contribution to the both integrals (3.84). The corresponding integrals can be computed. The first one equals

$$H(\tilde{x}_{k+1}, \tilde{y}_{l+1})|_{\tilde{x}_{i_s} = \tilde{y}_{j_0}, s = 0, \dots, k; \ \tilde{y}_{j_s} = \tilde{y}_{j_0}, s = 1, \dots, l},$$

the second to

$$-H(\tilde{x}_{k+1},\tilde{y}_{l+1})\big|_{\tilde{x}_{i_s}=\tilde{y}_{j_0},\,s=0,\ldots,k;\;\;\tilde{y}_{j_s}=\tilde{y}_{j_0},\,s=1,\ldots,l},$$

so that their sum equals zero.

The same arguments hold for fusions of type II unless $d \neq 0$. For d = 0 the corresponding fusion of chain integrals is by definition the chain integral

$$\frac{1}{-2\pi i} I_{k+l+1} \left(y_{i_0} | \mathbf{i}'_{k+l+1}, \mathbf{m}'_{k+l+1} \right)$$
(3.87)

where

$$\begin{array}{ll} s \leq l \, : & i_s' = j_s, \qquad m_{s}'^i = \tilde{m}_s^i, \\ s = l+1 \, : & i_{l+1}' = i_0, \qquad m_{l+1}'^i = q^i, \\ s > l+1 \, : & i_s' = i_{s-l-1}, \qquad m_{s}'^i = m_{s-l-1}^i. \end{array}$$

Here, the integers q^i are given by the relation (3.82). See example in Fig. 10.

This ends the consideration of fusions of chains integrals (3.58). All of them cancel, except new chains (3.87).

Consider now the fusion (3.59)

$$\operatorname{Res}_{ix_{i_0}=iz_j+c} I_k\left(y_{i_0}|\boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k\right) J_1(z_j|b, \tilde{m}^1, \tilde{m}^2).$$
(3.88)



FIGURE 11. Singularities (3.89), (3.90), (3.91) are shown with dashed lines (a = 2). Dotted line shows a possible zero (3.92)

Here we again change symbols y to x in the chain I_k . There could appear such singularities, labeled by a fixed number a:

$$ix_{i_a} = iz_j + \frac{g^*}{2} + p^1\omega_1 + p^2\omega_2, \qquad p^1, p^2 \ge 0, \qquad (3.89)$$

$$ix_{i_{a+1}} = iy_b + g + q^1\omega_1 + q^2\omega_2, \qquad q^1, q^2 \ge 0, \qquad (3.90)$$

$$ay_b = ix_{i_{a-1}} + g + r^1\omega_1 + r^2\omega_2, \qquad r^1, r^2 \ge 0.$$
 (3.91)

See example in Fig. 11. Once there is a pole (3.90), there is a zero at the point

$$ix_{i_{a+1}} = iz_j - \frac{g^*}{2} + s^1\omega_1 + s^2\omega_2, \qquad s^i = \tilde{m}^i + q^i + 1 > 0$$
(3.92)

given by the function $S^{-1}(ix_{i_{a+1}}-iz_j+g^*/2)$. Once we have a singularity (3.89) or (3.91), we are in the position of Lemma 3 with respect to the variables y_b and x_{i_a} and consider instead of the residue (3.88) the corresponding sum of four integrals with shift operators, for which we have additional zero of the second order.

Analyzing the balance of poles and zeros, we conclude that the residue (3.88) could be non-trivial only when a = k + 1, so that the variables x_{i_a} and $x_{i_{a+1}}$ are missing and the residue (3.88) is taken along the only singularity

$$iy_b = ix_{i_k} + g + r^1\omega_1 + r^2\omega_2, \qquad r^1, r^2 \ge 0.$$
 (3.93)

Finally, consider the residue (3.60). In the calculation

$$\operatorname{Res}_{ix_{i_0}=iz_j+c} I_k\left(y_{i_0}|\boldsymbol{i}_k, \boldsymbol{m}_k\right)$$

we could meet only one pole of the form (3.89) together with zero (3.92) if the variable $x_{i_{a+1}}$ exists, see Fig. 12. Thus, the only non-trivial result could be only when k = a and the residue is taken along the singularity

$$ix_{i_k} = iz_j + \frac{g^*}{2} + p^1\omega_1 + p^2\omega_2, \qquad p^1, p^2 \ge 0.$$
 (3.94)

One can note that the resulting integrals obtained in the calculations of the fusion integrals (3.59) and (3.60) coincide up to a sign and cancel each other except for the case k = 0 in (3.60), see Fig. 12.



(a) Pole and zero cancel each other $(a \neq k)$



FIGURE 12. Cancellation of residues

But for k = 0 this gives precisely the new chain $J_1(z_j|i_0, p^1, p^2)$. For their direct products $J_1(z_a|b, m^1, m^2) \times J_1(z_c|d, n^1, n^2)$ the indices a and c could not coincide since otherwise we can apply Lemma 3 to the variables y_b and y_d and cancel the sum of four corresponding terms.

This ends the proof of Proposition 1.

3.3. Simple Poles Calculations

In the previous subsections, we proved that

- 1. Both integrals in (3.5) can be calculated by residues, moving the contours of integration either to the lower or to the upper half planes depending on the sign of Re λ ;
- 2. In residue calculations only direct products of simple poles $J_1(z_a|b, m^1, m^2)$ (3.38) with distinct z_a contribute to the integrals, see Corollary 3 to Proposition 1.

Now consider the integral $Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_{2n}; \lambda)$ in the left hand side of (3.5). By Corollary 3, it equals the sum of all possible direct products

$$J_1(z_{a_1}|b_1, m_1^1, m_1^2) \times \ldots \times J_1(z_{a_n}|b_n, m_n^1, m_n^2)$$
(3.95)

with distinct indices a_1, \ldots, a_n . These indices form a subset $I \subset [2n] = \{1, \ldots, 2n\}$ of cardinality n. Collecting the direct products with a given choice of the set I we arrive at the sum of $\binom{2n}{n}$ series

$$Q_{n}(\boldsymbol{z}_{2n};\lambda) = \sum_{\substack{I \subset [2n] \\ |I| = n}} e^{2\pi\lambda \left(\frac{n\,g^{*}}{2} + i\sum_{i \in I} z_{i}\right)} L^{I}(u,v)$$
(3.96)

over

$$u = e^{2\pi\lambda\omega_1}$$
 and $v = e^{2\pi\lambda\omega_2}$. (3.97)

The series converges for sufficiently big negative $\operatorname{Re} \lambda$. More precisely, denote two sequences of non-negative integers

$$\boldsymbol{m}^{1} = (m_{1}^{1}, \dots, m_{n}^{1}), \qquad \boldsymbol{m}^{2} = (m_{1}^{2}, \dots, m_{n}^{2})$$
 (3.98)

and the sum of their components in a standard way

$$|\boldsymbol{m}^{i}| = m_{1}^{i} + \ldots + m_{n}^{i}.$$
(3.99)

Then, the function $L^{I}(u, v)$ equals

$$L^{I}(u,v) = n! \left(-2\pi i\right)^{n} \sum_{M,K \ge 0} L^{I}_{M,K} u^{M} v^{K}$$
(3.100)

where $L_{M,K}^{I}$ is the following sum of multiple residues

$$L_{M,K}^{I} = \sum_{\substack{m_{i}^{1} \ge 0: \ |\boldsymbol{m}^{1}| = M \\ m_{i}^{2} \ge 0: \ |\boldsymbol{m}^{2}| = K}} L_{\boldsymbol{m}^{1},\boldsymbol{m}^{2}}^{I}$$
(3.101)

with

$$L_{m^{1},m^{2}}^{I} = \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{1}=iz_{i_{1}}+\frac{g^{*}}{2}+m_{1}^{1}\omega_{1}+m_{1}^{2}\omega_{2}} \cdots$$

$$\cdots \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{n}=iz_{i_{n}}+\frac{g^{*}}{2}+m_{n}^{1}\omega_{1}+m_{n}^{2}\omega_{2}} \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) \prod_{a=1}^{2n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} K(y_{j}-z_{a}). \quad (3.102)$$

In the same way, we compute the integral in the right hand side of (3.5), but moving the integration contours to the upper half plane. Again it is expressed via the sum of chain integrals with different sign due to the opposite orientation of the contours. Collecting the terms where the indices a_j of the parameters z_{a_j} belong to a given subset $J \subset [2n]$ of cardinality n we get a sum of $\binom{2n}{n}$ series

$$Q_n(\mathbf{z}_{2n}; -\lambda) = \sum_{\substack{J \subset [2n] \\ |J|=n}} e^{-2\pi\lambda \left(-\frac{ng^*}{2} + i\sum_{i \in J} z_i\right)} R^J(u, v)$$
(3.103)

over the same variables u and v defined in (3.97). Here

$$R^{J}(u,v) = n! (2\pi i)^{n} \sum_{M,K \ge 0} R^{J}_{M,K} u^{M} v^{K}$$
(3.104)

where $R_{M,K}^{J}$ is the following sum of multiple residues

$$R_{M,K}^{J} = \sum_{\substack{m_{i}^{1} \ge 0: \ |\boldsymbol{m}^{1}| = M \\ m_{i}^{2} \ge 0: \ |\boldsymbol{m}^{2}| = K}} R_{\boldsymbol{m}^{1},\boldsymbol{m}^{2}}^{J}$$
(3.105)

with

$$R_{\boldsymbol{m}^{1},\boldsymbol{m}^{2}}^{J} = \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{1}=iz_{j_{1}}-\frac{g^{*}}{2}-m_{1}^{1}\omega_{1}-m_{1}^{2}\omega_{2}}\cdots$$
$$\cdots \operatorname{Res}_{iy_{n}=iz_{j_{n}}-\frac{g^{*}}{2}-m_{n}^{1}\omega_{1}-m_{n}^{2}\omega_{2}} \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_{n}) \prod_{a=1}^{2n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} K(y_{j}-z_{a}). \quad (3.106)$$

For any subset $I \subset [2n]$ of cardinality n denote by \overline{I} the complement

$$\bar{I} = [2n] \setminus I$$

of I in the set [2n].

Proposition 2. For any $I \subset [2n]$, |I| = n, we have the equality of series $L^{I}(u, v) = (-1)^{n} R^{\overline{I}}(u, v)$ (3.107)

Equivalently,

$$L^{I}_{M,K} = (-1)^{n} R^{\bar{I}}_{M,K} \qquad for \ any \qquad M, K \ge 0.$$
(3.108)

Proposition 2 immediately implies the equality (3.5) due to (3.96) and (3.103). Thus, it also implies the commutativity of *Q*-operators (3.1).

Proof of Proposition 2. It is clear by symmetry arguments, that it is sufficient to prove the equalities (3.108) for the set $I_0 = \{1, \ldots, n\}$. For the sake of convenience below we change the notation for variables z_a in the following way

$$iz_a \to z_a, \qquad a = 1, \dots, n, \qquad iz_{n+i} \to x_i, \qquad i = 1, \dots, n.$$
 (3.109)

Using (A.14), we get the precise value of the multiple residue (3.102),

$$L_{m^{1},m^{2}}^{I_{0}} = \frac{(\omega_{1}\omega_{2})^{n/2}}{(-2\pi i)^{n}} \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{m_{a}^{1}m_{a}^{2} + m_{a}^{1} + m_{a}^{2}} S_{2}^{-1}(g^{*} + m_{a}^{1}\omega_{1} + m_{a}^{2}\omega_{2})}{\prod_{j=1}^{m_{a}^{1}} 2\sin \frac{\pi j \omega_{1}}{\omega_{2}} \prod_{l=1}^{m_{a}^{2}} 2\sin \frac{\pi l \omega_{2}}{\omega_{1}}} \\ \times \prod_{\substack{a,b=1\\a\neq b}}^{n} \left[S_{2}(z_{a} - z_{b} + (m_{a}^{1} - m_{b}^{1})\omega_{1} + (m_{a}^{2} - m_{b}^{2})\omega_{2}) \right] \\ S_{2}(z_{a} - z_{b} + g^{*} + (m_{a}^{1} - m_{b}^{1})\omega_{1} + (m_{a}^{2} - m_{b}^{2})\omega_{2}) \\ S_{2}^{-1}(z_{a} - z_{b} + g^{*} + m_{a}^{1}\omega_{1} + m_{a}^{2}\omega_{2}) S_{2}^{-1}(z_{a} - z_{b} - m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{b}^{2}\omega_{2}) \right] \\ \times \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} S_{2}^{-1}(z_{a} - x_{i} + g^{*} + m_{a}^{1}\omega_{1} + m_{a}^{2}\omega_{2}) \\ S_{2}^{-1}(x_{i} - z_{a} - m_{a}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{a}^{2}\omega_{2}).$$

$$(3.110)$$

For a variable x and integer m, k denote by $[x|\omega]_{m,k}$ the hyperbolic analog of the Pochhammer symbol:

$$[x|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m,k} = (-1)^{mk} \frac{S_2(x)}{S_2(x+m\omega_1+k\omega_2)}.$$
(3.111)

For non-negative m and k

$$[x|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m,k} = \prod_{s=0}^{m-1} 2\sin\pi \frac{x+s\omega_1}{\omega_2} \prod_{l=0}^{k-1} 2\sin\pi \frac{x+l\omega_2}{\omega_1}.$$
 (3.112)

In these notations, the expression (3.110) can be rewritten as follows

$$L_{m^{1},m^{2}}^{I_{0}} = \frac{(\omega_{1}\omega_{2})^{n/2}}{(-2\pi i S_{2}(g^{*}))^{n}} \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} S_{2}^{-1}(z_{a} - x_{i} + g^{*}) S_{2}^{-1}(x_{i} - z_{a})$$
$$\times \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{[g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[\omega_{1} + \omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}$$

$$\times \prod_{a \neq b} \frac{[z_a - z_b + g^* + (m_a^1 - m_b^1)\omega_1 + (m_a^2 - m_b^2)\omega_2 |\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_b^1, m_b^2}}{[z_a - z_b - m_b^1\omega_1 - m_b^2\omega_2 |\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1, m_a^2}} \\ \times \prod_{i,a=1}^n \frac{[z_a - x_i + g^* |\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1, m_a^2}}{[x_i - z_a - m_a^1\omega_1 - m_a^2\omega_2 |\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1, m_a^2}}.$$
(3.113)

The inversion formula (A.6) implies the following symmetry of the hyperbolic Pochhammer symbol:

$$[x - m\omega_1 - k\omega_2 | \boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m,k} = [\omega_1 + \omega_2 - x | \boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m,k}.$$
 (3.114)

With its use we simplify the relation (3.113) as follows

$$L_{m^{1},m^{2}}^{I_{0}} = \frac{(\omega_{1}\omega_{2})^{n/2}}{(-2\pi i S_{2}(g^{*}))^{n}} \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} S_{2}^{-1}(z_{a} - x_{i} + g^{*}) S_{2}^{-1}(x_{i} - z_{a})$$

$$\times \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{[g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[\omega_{1} + \omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}} \prod_{a\neq b} \frac{[z_{a} - z_{b} + g - m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{b}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[z_{a} - z_{b} - m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{b}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}$$

$$\times \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_{a} - x_{i} + g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[z_{a} - x_{i} + \omega_{1} + \omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}.$$
(3.115)

Analogous calculations for the multiple residue (3.106) for $J = \overline{I}_0$ give

$$R_{m^{1},m^{2}}^{\bar{I}_{0}} = \frac{(\omega_{1}\omega_{2})^{n/2}}{(2\pi\imath)^{n}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{m_{i}^{1}m_{i}^{2} + m_{i}^{1} + m_{i}^{2}} S_{2}^{-1}(g^{*} + m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1} + m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2})}{\prod_{j=1}^{m_{i}^{1}} 2\sin\frac{\pi_{j}\omega_{1}}{\omega_{2}} \prod_{l=1}^{m_{i}^{2}} 2\sin\frac{\pi_{l}\omega_{2}}{\omega_{1}}} \\ \times \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \left[S_{2}(x_{i} - x_{j} + (m_{j}^{1} - m_{i}^{1})\omega_{1} + (m_{j}^{2} - m_{i}^{2})\omega_{2}) \right] \\ S_{2}(x_{i} - x_{j} + g^{*} + (m_{j}^{1} - m_{i}^{1})\omega_{1} + (m_{j}^{2} - m_{i}^{2})\omega_{2}) \\ S_{2}^{-1}(x_{i} - x_{j} + g^{*} + m_{j}^{1}\omega_{1} + m_{j}^{2}\omega_{2}) S_{2}^{-1}(x_{i} - x_{j} - m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}) \right] \\ \times \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} S_{2}^{-1}(z_{a} - x_{i} + g^{*} + m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1} + m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}) \\ S_{2}^{-1}(x_{i} - z_{a} - m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}),$$

$$(3.116)$$

so that

$$R_{m^{1},m^{2}}^{\bar{I}_{0}} = \frac{(\omega_{1}\omega_{2})^{n/2}}{(2\pi i S(g^{*}))^{n}} \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} S^{-1}(z_{a} - x_{i} + g^{*})S^{-1}(x_{i} - z_{a})$$

$$\times \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{[g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{i}^{2}}}{[\omega_{1} + \omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{i}^{2}}} \prod_{i \neq j} \frac{[x_{i} - x_{j} + g - m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{j}^{1},m_{j}^{2}}}{[x_{i} - x_{j} - m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{j}^{1},m_{j}^{2}}}$$

$$\times \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_{a} - x_{i} + g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{i}^{2}}}{[z_{a} - x_{i} + \omega_{1} + \omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{i}^{2}}}.$$
(3.117)

Comparing (3.115) and (3.117), we see that the equality (3.108) is equivalent to the relation

$$\sum_{\substack{|m^{1}|=M\\|m^{2}|=K}} \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{[g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[\omega_{1}+\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}} \prod_{a\neq b} \frac{[z_{a}-z_{b}+g-m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1}-m_{b}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[z_{a}-z_{b}-m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1}-m_{b}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}} \\ \times \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_{a}-x_{i}+g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[z_{a}-x_{i}+\omega_{1}+\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}} \\ = \sum_{\substack{|m^{1}|=M\\|m^{2}|=K}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{[g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[\omega_{1}+\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}} \prod_{i\neq j} \frac{[x_{i}-x_{j}+g-m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1}-m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{j}^{1},m_{j}^{2}}}{[x_{i}-x_{j}-m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1}-m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{j}^{1},m_{j}^{2}}} \\ \times \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_{a}-x_{i}+g^{*}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[z_{a}-x_{i}+\omega_{1}+\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}.$$
(3.118)

Here, the sums in both sides of the relation are taken over two sequences m^1 and m^2 (3.98) of non-negative integers with their fixed sums equal to M and K,

$$m_i^j \ge 0, \qquad |\boldsymbol{m}^1| = \sum_{i=1}^n m_i^1 = M, \qquad |\boldsymbol{m}^2| = \sum_{i=1}^n m_i^2 = K.$$
 (3.119)

Make the change of variables

$$x_i \mapsto x_i + \omega_1 + \omega_2. \tag{3.120}$$

Then, the relation (3.118) looks as

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\substack{|m^{1}|=M\\|m^{2}|=K}} \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{[\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} - g|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[\omega_{1} + \omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}} \\ &\prod_{\substack{a,b=1\\a\neq b}}^{n} \frac{[z_{a} - z_{b} + g - m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{b}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[z_{a} - z_{b} - m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{b}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}} \\ &\times \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_{a} - x_{i} - g|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}}{[z_{a} - x_{i}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{a}^{1},m_{a}^{2}}} \\ &= \sum_{\substack{|m^{1}|=M\\|m^{2}|=K}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{[\omega_{1} + \omega_{2} - g|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{i}^{2}}}{[\omega_{1} + \omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{i}^{1},m_{i}^{2}}} \\ &\prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\|m^{2}|=K}}^{n} \frac{[x_{i} - x_{j} + g - m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{j}^{1},m_{j}^{2}}}{[x_{i} - x_{j} - m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1} - m_{i}^{2}\omega_{2}|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_{j}^{1},m_{j}^{2}}} \end{split}$$

N. Belousov et al. Ann. Henri Poincaré

$$\times \prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_a - x_i - g|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_i^1, m_i^2}}{[z_a - x_i|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_i^1, m_i^2}}.$$
(3.121)

The factorization formula (A.10) is equivalent to the factorization of the hyperbolic Pochhammer symbol:

$$[x|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m,k} = [x|\omega_1]_m \cdot [x|\omega_2]_k. \tag{3.122}$$

Here

$$[x|\omega_1]_m = \frac{S_2(x)}{S_2(x+m\omega_1)}, \qquad [x|\omega_2]_k = \frac{S_2(x)}{S_2(x+k\omega_2)}.$$
(3.123)

For non-negative m and k

$$[x|\omega_1]_m = \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} 2\sin\pi \frac{x+i\omega_1}{\omega_2}, \qquad [x|\omega_2]_k = \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} 2\sin\pi \frac{x+j\omega_2}{\omega_1}.$$
 (3.124)

By using (3.122) and canceling the appearing sings, we can factorize each ratio in (3.121) into the product over periods:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{[\omega_1 + \omega_2 - g|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1,m_a^2}}{[\omega_1 + \omega_2|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1,m_a^2}} = \frac{[\omega_1 - g|\omega_1]_{m_a^1}}{[\omega_1|\omega_1]_{m_a^1}} \times \frac{[\omega_2 - g|\omega_2]_{m_a^1}}{[\omega_2|\omega_1]_{m_a^2}}, \\ &\frac{[z_a - z_b + g - m_b^1\omega_1 - m_b^2\omega_2|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1,m_a^2}}{[z_a - z_b - m_b^1\omega_1 - m_b^2\omega_2|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1,m_a^2}} = \frac{[z_a - z_b + g - m_b^1\omega_1|\omega_1]_{m_a^1}}{[z_a - z_b - m_b^1\omega_1|\omega_1]_{m_a^1}} \\ &\times \frac{[z_a - z_b + g - m_b^2\omega_2|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}}{[z_a - z_b - m_b^2\omega_2|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}}, \\ &\frac{[z_a - x_i - g|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1,m_a^2}}{[z_a - x_i|\boldsymbol{\omega}]_{m_a^1,m_a^2}} = \frac{[z_a - x_i - g|\omega_1]_{m_a^1}}{[z_a - x_i|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, the relation (3.121) decouples into two independent identities

$$\sum_{|m^{1}|=M} \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{[\omega_{1} - g|\omega_{1}]_{m_{a}^{1}}}{[\omega_{1}|\omega_{1}]_{m_{a}^{1}}} \prod_{\substack{a,b=1\\a\neq b}}^{n} \frac{[z_{a} - z_{b} + g - m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1}|\omega_{1}]_{m_{a}^{1}}}{[z_{a} - z_{b} - m_{b}^{1}\omega_{1}|\omega_{1}]_{m_{a}^{1}}}$$

$$\prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_{a} - x_{i} - g|\omega_{1}]_{m_{a}^{1}}}{[z_{a} - x_{i}|\omega_{1}]_{m_{a}^{1}}}$$

$$= \sum_{|m^{1}|=M} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{[\omega_{1} - g|\omega_{1}]_{m_{i}^{1}}}{[\omega_{1}|\omega_{1}]_{m_{i}^{1}}} \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{[x_{i} - x_{j} + g - m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1}|\omega_{1}]_{m_{j}^{1}}}{[x_{i} - x_{j} - m_{i}^{1}\omega_{1}|\omega_{1}]_{m_{j}^{1}}}$$

$$\prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_{a} - x_{i} - g|\omega_{1}]_{m_{i}^{1}}}{[z_{a} - x_{i}|\omega_{1}]_{m_{i}^{1}}} \qquad (3.125)$$

and

$$\sum_{|m^2|=K} \prod_{a=1}^n \frac{[\omega_2 - g|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}}{[\omega_2|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}} \prod_{\substack{a,b=1\\a\neq b}}^n \frac{[z_a - z_b + g - m_b^2 \omega_2|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}}{[z_a - z_b - m_b^2 \omega_2|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}}$$

3244

$$\prod_{i,a=1}^{n} \frac{[z_a - x_i - g|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}}{[z_a - x_i|\omega_2]_{m_a^2}} = \sum_{\substack{|m^2|=K}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{[\omega_2 - g|\omega_2]_{m_i^2}}{[\omega_2|\omega_2]_{m_i^2}} \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{[x_i - x_j + g - m_i^2\omega_2|\omega_2]_{m_j^2}}{[x_i - x_j - m_i^2\omega_2|\omega_2]_{m_j^2}} = \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{[z_a - x_i - g|\omega_2]_{m_i^2}}{[z_a - x_i|\omega_2]_{m_i^2}}.$$
(3.126)

These are precisely hypergeometric identities (1.32) written in additive form. Their proof is given in the next section. Using it we complete the proof of Proposition 2 and of the main statement of commutativity of Baxter Qoperators.

4. Proof of Hypergeometric Identities

The relations (3.125) and (3.126) are equivalent modulo the interchange of the periods. We choose (3.126). Rewrite it in the common multiplicative notations of basic hypergeometry. Set

$$q = e^{\frac{2\pi i \omega_2}{\omega_1}}, \qquad t = e^{\frac{-2\pi i g}{\omega_1}}, \qquad u_i = e^{\frac{2\pi i z_i}{\omega_1}}, \qquad v_a = e^{\frac{2\pi i x_a}{\omega_1}}.$$
 (4.1)

Denote by $(z;q)_k$ and $[z;q]_k$ non-symmetric and symmetric q-analogs of Pochhammer symbols,

$$(z;q)_{k} = (1-z)(1-qz)\cdots(1-q^{k-1}z),$$

$$[z;q]_{k} = (z^{1/2}-z^{-1/2})(q^{1/2}z^{1/2}-q^{-1/2}z^{-1/2})$$

$$\cdots(q^{(k-1)/2}z^{1/2}-q^{(-k+1)/2}z^{-1/2}).$$
(4.2)

Then, (3.126) becomes

$$\sum_{|k|=K} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{[qt;q]_{k_i}}{[q;q]_{k_i}} \times \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{[t^{-1}q^{-k_j}u_i/u_j;q]_{k_i}}{[q^{-k_j}u_i/u_j;q]_{k_i}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^{n} \frac{[tu_j/v_a;q]_{k_j}}{[u_j/v_a;q]_{k_j}}$$
$$= \sum_{|k|=K} \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{[qt;q]_{k_a}}{[q;q]_{k_a}} \times \prod_{\substack{a,b=1\\a\neq b}}^{n} \frac{[t^{-1}q^{-k_a}v_a/v_b;q]_{k_b}}{[q^{-k_a}v_a/v_b;q]_{k_b}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^{n} \frac{[tu_j/v_a;q]_{k_a}}{[u_j/v_a;q]_{k_a}}$$
(4.3)

in terms of symmetric q-Pochhammers. Here, the sum in both sides of the equality is taken over n-tuples of non-negative integers with total sum equal to K

$$\boldsymbol{k} = (k_1, \dots, k_n), \qquad k_i \ge 0, \qquad k_1 + \dots + k_n = K.$$

It has the same form in terms of traditional non-symmetric q-Pochhammer symbols:

$$\sum_{|k_n|=K} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{(qt;q)_{k_i}}{(q;q)_{k_i}} \times \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^n \frac{(t^{-1}q^{-k_j}u_i/u_j;q)_{k_i}}{(q^{-k_j}u_i/u_j;q)_{k_i}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^n \frac{(tu_j/v_a;q)_{k_j}}{(u_j/v_a;q)_{k_j}}$$
$$= \sum_{|k_n|=K} \prod_{a=1}^n \frac{(qt;q)_{k_a}}{(q;q)_{k_a}} \times \prod_{\substack{a,b=1\\a\neq b}}^n \frac{(t^{-1}q^{-k_a}v_a/v_b;q)_{k_b}}{(q^{-k_a}v_a/v_b;q)_{k_b}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^n \frac{(tu_j/v_a;q)_{k_a}}{(u_j/v_a;q)_{k_a}}.$$

However, it is more convenient for us to prove the symmetric version of identity (4.3).

The proof follows the standard line of complex analysis: in a rather tricky way we check that the difference of the left and right hand sides has zero residues at all possible simple poles. Thus, both sides are the Laurent polynomials symmetric over the variables u_i and over the variables v_j . Then, the asymptotic analysis of these polynomials shows that their difference is actually equal to zero.

The crucial step—calculation of the residues of both sides of the equality divides into two parts. First we show that each side is regular at the diagonals $u_i = q^p u_j$ and $v_a = q^s v_b$ between the variables of the same group, see Lemma 6. In this calculation, we actually observe the canceling of terms grouped in corresponding pairs. Then, we show that residues at mixed diagonals $u_i = q^p v_a$ vanish. This is done by induction, using the non-trivial relation between such residues stated in Lemma 7. Below we give a brief proof of both lemmas; all technical details are presented in our paper [4].

It is not difficult to verify that all the poles in (4.3) are simple. Consider the left hand side of (4.3) as the function of u_1 and calculate the residue of this function at the point

$$u_1 = u_2 q^p, \qquad p \in \mathbb{Z}. \tag{4.5}$$

For each k, $\sum_{j=1}^{n} k_j = K$ denote by $U_k = U_k(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v})$ the corresponding summand of the left hand side of (4.3), and by $V_k = V_k(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v})$ the corresponding summand of the right hand side of (4.3),

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{U}_{k} &= \prod_{i=1}^{n} \frac{[qt;q]_{k_{i}}}{[q;q]_{k_{i}}} \times \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} \frac{[t^{-1}q^{-k_{j}}u_{i}/u_{j};q]_{k_{i}}}{[q^{-k_{j}}u_{i}/u_{j};q]_{k_{i}}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^{n} \frac{[tu_{j}/v_{a};q]_{k_{j}}}{[u_{j}/v_{a};q]_{k_{j}}}, \\ \mathbf{V}_{k} &= \prod_{a=1}^{n} \frac{[qt;q]_{k_{a}}}{[q;q]_{k_{a}}} \times \prod_{\substack{a,b=1\\a\neq b}}^{n} \frac{[t^{-1}q^{-k_{a}}v_{a}/v_{b};q]_{k_{b}}}{[q^{-k_{a}}v_{a}/v_{b};q]_{k_{b}}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^{n} \frac{[tu_{j}/v_{a};q]_{k_{a}}}{[u_{j}/v_{a};q]_{k_{a}}}. \end{aligned}$$

The summands U_k , which contribute to the residue at the point (4.5), are divided into two groups. The denominators of the terms U_k from the first group $k \in I_p$ contain Pochhammer symbol

$$[q^{-k_2}u_1/u_2;q]_{k_1}$$

which vanishes at the point (4.5). It happens when

$$k_2 - k_1 + 1 \le p \le k_2,$$

so that

$$I_p = \{ \mathbf{k}, |\mathbf{k}| = K \colon k_1 \ge k_2 + 1 - p, k_2 \ge p \}$$

The denominators of the terms \mathbf{U}_l in the second group $l\in II_p$ contain Pochhammer

$$[q^{-l_1}u_2/u_1;q]_{l_2}$$

which vanishes at the point (4.5). It happens when

$$-l_1 \le p \le l_2 - l_1 - 1,$$

so that

$$II_p = \{ \boldsymbol{l}, |\boldsymbol{l}| = K \colon l_1 \ge -p, l_2 \ge l_1 + 1 + p \}.$$

Define the maps of sets $\varphi_p: I_p \to II_p$ and $\psi_p: II_p \to I_p$ by the same formulas

$$\phi_p: I_p \to II_p \qquad \phi_p(k_1, k_2, \mathbf{k}') = (k_2 - p, k_1 + p, \mathbf{k}'), \psi_p: II_p \to I_p \qquad \psi_p(k_1, k_2, \mathbf{k}') = (k_2 - p, k_1 + p, \mathbf{k}')$$

where $k' = (k_3, ..., k_n).$

Lemma 6. 1. Maps ϕ_p and ψ_p establish bijections between the sets I_p and II_p ;

2. For any $\mathbf{k} \in I_p$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{u_1=u_2q^p} \mathcal{U}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) + \operatorname{Res}_{u_1=u_2q^p} \mathcal{U}_{\phi_p(\boldsymbol{k})}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) = 0, \qquad (4.6)$$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{v_2=v_1q^p} \operatorname{V}_{\boldsymbol{k}}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) + \operatorname{Res}_{v_2=v_1q^p} \operatorname{V}_{\phi_p(\boldsymbol{k})}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) = 0.$$

$$(4.7)$$

Proof of Lemma 6. The first part is purely combinatorial and can be checked directly. Let us prove the second part.

Note first that each summand $U_k(u; v)$ of the left hand side of (4.3) has the following structure

$$U_{k}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) = \frac{\mathcal{U}_{k}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v};t)}{\mathcal{U}_{k}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v};1)}$$
(4.8)

where

$$\mathcal{U}_{k}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v};t) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} [qt;q]_{k_{i}} \times \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^{n} [t^{-1}q^{-k_{j}}u_{i}/u_{j};q]_{k_{i}} \times \prod_{a,j=1}^{n} [tu_{j}/v_{a};q]_{k_{j}}.$$
 (4.9)

The following identity

$$\mathcal{U}_{k_1,k_2,k'}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v};t)|_{u_1=q^p u_2} = \mathcal{U}_{k_2-p,k_1+p,k'}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v};t)|_{u_1=q^p u_2}, \boldsymbol{k} = (k_1,k_2,\boldsymbol{k}') \in I_p$$
(4.10)

valid for any $\mathbf{k} = (k_1, k_2, \mathbf{k}') \in I_p$ is established with a help of an explicit bijection between linear factors of the products in both sides of equality (4.10). Then, this equality implies the statement (4.6) about zero sum of the residues. Indeed, the relation (4.10) establishes a bijection between all nonzero factors of the denominators $\mathcal{U}_{k_1,k_2,\mathbf{k}'}(\mathbf{u};\mathbf{v};1)|_{u_1=q^pu_2}$ and $\mathcal{U}_{k_2-p,k_1+p,\mathbf{k}'}(\mathbf{u};\mathbf{v};1)$

 \square

 \square

and the equality of their products. Factors in denominators of $U_{k_1,k_2,k'}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v})$ and $U_{k_2-p,k_1+p,k'}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v})$ which tend to zero when u_1 tends to $q^p u_2$ are

$$q^{-p/2}u_1/u_2 - q^{p/2}u_2/u_1$$
 and $q^{p/2}u_2/u_1 - q^{-p/2}u_1/u_2.$ (4.11)

They give inputs into residues, which just differ by sign. Thus, we arrive at (4.6). For the proof of (4.7), we note that the involution

$$\tau \colon u_i \mapsto v_i^{-1}, \qquad v_i \mapsto u_i^{-1} \tag{4.12}$$

exchanges each U_k with V_k , as well as the left and right hand sides of (4.3).

Corollary 4. Both sides of (4.3) have no poles of the form $u_i = q^p u_j$ and $v_a = q^p v_b$.

For any non-negative integer p denote by $\varphi_p(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v})$ the following rational function of $\boldsymbol{u} = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)$ and $\boldsymbol{v} = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$:

$$\varphi_p(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) = (-1)^p \frac{[tq;q]_{2p}}{[q;q]_p [q;q]_{p-1}} \prod_{j=2}^n \frac{[tu_j/v_1;q]_p}{[u_1/u_j;q]_p} \prod_{b=2}^n \frac{[tu_1/v_b;q]_p}{[v_b/v_1;q]_p}$$
(4.13)

Lemma 7. For any $1 \le p \le k_1$ and $\mathbf{k}' \in \mathbb{Z}_{\ge 0}^{n-1}$

$$\operatorname{Res}_{v_1=q^{p-1}u_1} \frac{1}{v_1} \operatorname{V}_{k_1, k'}(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v}) = \varphi_p(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v}) \times \operatorname{V}_{k_1-p, k'}(qv_1, \boldsymbol{u}'; q^{-1}u_1, \boldsymbol{v}'),$$
(4.14)

$$\operatorname{Res}_{v_1=q^{p-1}u_1}\frac{1}{v_1}\operatorname{U}_{k_1,k'}(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) = \varphi_p(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) \times \operatorname{U}_{k_1-p,k'}(qv_1,\boldsymbol{u}';q^{-1}u_1,\boldsymbol{v}').$$
(4.15)

Proof of Lemma 7. It is a direct computation which uses the following properties of q-Pochhammer symbols:

$$[q^p u; q]_m \times [u]_n = [q^p u; q]_{n-p} \times [u; q]_{m+p},$$
(4.16)

$$[qu;q]_m \times [q^{-(m+p)}u^{-1};q]_n = (-1)^p [qu;q]_{m+p} \times [q^{-m}u^{-1};q]_{n-p}$$
(4.17)

which are valid for any u and integer m, n, p. Here we assume that

$$[z;q]_{-n} = (q^{1/2}z^{1/2} - q^{-1/2}z^{-1/2})^{-1} \cdots (q^{n/2}z^{1/2} - q^{-n/2}z^{-1/2})^{-1}, \qquad n > 0.$$
(4.18)

For more technical details, see [4].

Proof of Theorem 3. We are ready now to prove the equality (4.3) and thus Theorem 3 by induction over K. Denote the difference of the left and right hand sides of (4.3) by $W_K(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v})$. Assume that $W_K(\boldsymbol{u}, \boldsymbol{v}) = 0$ for all K < Nand any *m*-tuples of variables $\boldsymbol{u} = (u_1, \ldots, u_m), \boldsymbol{v} = (v_1, \ldots, v_m)$ for arbitrary *m*. Summing up the difference of (4.14) and (4.15) over all \boldsymbol{k} with $|\boldsymbol{k}| = K$, we get the relation

$$\operatorname{Res}_{v_1=q^{p-1}u_1}\frac{1}{v_1}W_K(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) = \varphi_p(\boldsymbol{u};\boldsymbol{v}) \times W_{K-p}(\boldsymbol{u}^*,\boldsymbol{v}^*), \quad (4.19)$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{u}^* = (qv_1, \boldsymbol{u}'), \qquad \boldsymbol{v}^* = (q^{-1}u_1, \boldsymbol{v}').$$
 (4.20)

By the induction assumption the right hand side of (4.19) equals zero. Taking in mind the symmetricity of $W_K(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v})$ with respect to permutation of u_i and of v_j we conclude that it has no poles at all. Since $W_K(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v})$ is a homogeneous rational function of the variables u_i and v_j of total degree zero, it is equal to a constant, which could depend on q and t. To compute this constant, we consider the behavior of this function in asymptotic zone

$$u_1 \ll u_2 \ll \ldots \ll u_n \ll v_n \ll v_{n-1} \ll \ldots \ll v_1.$$
 (4.21)

Here both sides of (4.3) tend to

$$\sum_{|k_n|=K} \prod_{i=1}^n \frac{[qt;q]_{k_i}}{[q;q]_{k_i}} \times t^{\frac{1}{2}\left((n-1)k_1 + (n-3)k_2 + \dots + (3-n)k_{n-1} + (1-n)k_n\right)} \times t^{-\frac{nK}{2}}.$$
(4.22)

Therefore, $W_K(\boldsymbol{u}; \boldsymbol{v})$ tends to zero in this asymptotic zone and so equals zero identically. This completes the induction step, the proof of the identity (4.3) and of Theorem 3.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Ole Warnaar and Hjalmar Rosengren for communicating to us their results. We also thank referees for their helpful comments and remarks. The work of N. Belousov (Sect. 3) was supported by the Euler International Mathematical Institute, grant No. 075-15-2022-289. The work of S. Derkachov was supported by the Theoretical Physics and Mathematics Advancement Foundation "BASIS". The work of S. Kharchev (Sect. 2) was supported by the Russian Science Foundation (Grant No. 23-41-00049). The work of S. Khoroshkin (Sect. 4) was supported by the International Laboratory of Cluster Geometry of National Research University Higher School of Economics, Russian Federation Government grant, ag. No. 075-15-2021-608 dated 08.06.2021. He also thanks the Weizmann Institute of Science for the kind hospitality during the summer of 2022. A big part of this work was done during his stay there.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Springer Nature or its licensor (e.g. a society or other partner) holds exclusive rights to this article under a publishing agreement with the author(s) or other rightsholder(s); author self-archiving of the accepted manuscript version of this article is solely governed by the terms of such publishing agreement and applicable law.

Appendix

A. Double Gamma and Sine Functions

The Barnes double Gamma function $\Gamma_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ [1] is defined by the relation

$$\Gamma_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \exp\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\zeta_2(s,z|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right)\Big|_{s=0},$$

where $\zeta_2(s, z | \boldsymbol{\omega})$ is the analytical continuation of the series

$$\zeta_2(s, z | \boldsymbol{\omega}) = \sum_{n_1, n_2 \ge 0} (z + n_1 \omega_1 + n_2 \omega_2)^{-s}, \quad \text{Re}\, s > 2$$

which under assumptions (1.14) and $\operatorname{Re} z > 0$ can be presented by the integral

$$\zeta_2(s, z | \boldsymbol{\omega}) = \Gamma(1 - s) \int_C \frac{e^{-zt} (-t)^s}{(1 - e^{-\omega_1 t}) (1 - e^{-\omega_2 t})} \frac{dt}{2\pi i t}$$

over the Hankel contour C enclosing the ray $\{t \ge 0\}$ counterclockwise. Under the same assumptions analogous integral presentation of $\ln \Gamma_2(z|\omega)$ looks as follows

$$\ln \Gamma_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{\gamma}{2} B_{2,2}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) + \int_C \frac{e^{-zt} \ln(-t)}{(1 - e^{-\omega_1 t}) (1 - e^{-\omega_2 t})} \frac{dt}{2\pi i t}.$$
 (A.1)

Here

$$B_{2,2}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \frac{z^2}{\omega_1\omega_2} - \frac{\omega_1 + \omega_2}{\omega_1\omega_2} z + \frac{\omega_1^2 + 3\omega_1\omega_2 + \omega_2^2}{6\omega_1\omega_2}$$
(A.2)

is a particular multiple Bernoulli polynomial, γ is the Euler constant.

The double sine function $S_2(z) := S_2(z|\omega)$, see [15] and references therein, is then defined as

$$S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \Gamma_2(\omega_1 + \omega_2 - z|\boldsymbol{\omega})\Gamma_2^{-1}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$
(A.3)

It satisfies functional relations

$$\frac{S_2(z)}{S_2(z+\omega_1)} = 2\sin\frac{\pi z}{\omega_2}, \qquad \frac{S_2(z)}{S_2(z+\omega_2)} = 2\sin\frac{\pi z}{\omega_1}$$
(A.4)

and inversion relation

$$S_2(z)S_2(-z) = -4\sin\frac{\pi z}{\omega_1}\sin\frac{\pi z}{\omega_2},\tag{A.5}$$

or equivalently

$$S_2(z)S_2(\omega_1 + \omega_2 - z) = 1.$$
 (A.6)

The double sine function is a homogeneous function of all its arguments

$$S_2(\gamma z | \gamma \omega_1, \gamma \omega_2) = S_2(z | \omega_1, \omega_2), \qquad \gamma \in (0, \infty)$$
(A.7)

and is invariant under permutation of periods

$$S_2(z|\omega_1, \omega_2) = S_2(z|\omega_2, \omega_1).$$
 (A.8)

The relation (A.4) has a useful corollary

$$\frac{S_2(z)}{S_2(z+m\omega_1+k\omega_2)} = (-1)^{mk} \prod_{j=0}^{m-1} 2\sin\frac{\pi}{\omega_2}(z+j\omega_1) \prod_{j=0}^{k-1} 2\sin\frac{\pi}{\omega_1}(z+j\omega_2),$$
$$\frac{S_2(z-m\omega_1-k\omega_2)}{S_2(z)} = (-1)^{mk} \prod_{j=1}^m 2\sin\frac{\pi}{\omega_2}(z-j\omega_1) \prod_{j=1}^k 2\sin\frac{\pi}{\omega_1}(z-j\omega_2)$$
(A.9)

that holds for $m, k \ge 0$. The latter relations also imply the following factorization formula

$$S_2(z)S_2(z+m\omega_1+k\omega_2) = (-1)^{mk}S_2(z+m\omega_1)S_2(z+k\omega_2)$$
(A.10)

for $m, k \in \mathbb{Z}$. The function $S_2(z)$ is a meromorphic function of z with poles at

$$z_{m,k} = m\omega_1 + k\omega_2, \qquad m,k \ge 1 \tag{A.11}$$

and zeros at

 $z_{-m,-k} = -m\omega_1 - k\omega_2, \qquad m, k \ge 0.$ (A.12)

For $\omega_1/\omega_2 \notin \mathbb{Q}$ all poles and zeros are simple. The residues of $S_2(z)$ and $S_2^{-1}(z)$ at these points are

$$\underset{z=z_{m,k}}{\operatorname{Res}} S_2(z) = \frac{\sqrt{\omega_1 \omega_2}}{2\pi} \frac{(-1)^{mk}}{\prod^{m-1} 2\sin\frac{\pi s \omega_1}{\omega_1}} \prod^{k-1} 2\sin\frac{\pi l \omega_2}{\omega_k},$$
(A.13)

$$\operatorname{Res}_{z=z_{-m,-k}} S_2^{-1}(z) = \frac{\sqrt{\omega_1 \omega_2}}{2\pi} \frac{(-1)^{mk+m+k}}{\prod_{s=1}^m 2\sin\frac{\pi s\omega_1}{\omega_2} \prod_{l=1}^k 2\sin\frac{\pi l\omega_2}{\omega_1}}.$$
 (A.14)

The integral representation for the logarithm of double sine function

$$\ln S_2(z) = \int_0^\infty \frac{dt}{2t} \left(\frac{\operatorname{sh}\left[(2z - \omega_1 - \omega_2)t \right]}{\operatorname{sh}(\omega_1 t) \operatorname{sh}(\omega_2 t)} - \frac{2z - \omega_1 - \omega_2}{\omega_1 \omega_2 t} \right)$$
(A.15)

holds true for $\operatorname{Re} z \in (0, \operatorname{Re} (\omega_1 + \omega_2)).$

The double dime function also can be written in terms of Ruijsenaars hyperbolic Gamma function $G(z|\omega)$ [21]

$$G(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = S_2\left(iz + \frac{\omega_1 + \omega_2}{2} \mid \boldsymbol{\omega}\right) \tag{A.16}$$

or Faddeev quantum dilogarithm $\gamma(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ [5]

$$\gamma(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = S_2 \left(-iz + \frac{\omega_1 + \omega_2}{2} \left| \boldsymbol{\omega} \right) \exp\left(\frac{i\pi}{2\omega_1\omega_2} \left[z^2 + \frac{\omega_1^2 + \omega_2^2}{12} \right] \right).$$
(A.17)

Both functions $G(z|\omega)$ and $\gamma(z|\omega)$ were investigated independently.

In what follows, we use the same notations as in Sect. 3.1. Denote by σ_i the arguments of the periods ω_i , $|\sigma_i| < \pi/2$. Since the double sine function is invariant under permutation of ω_1, ω_2 , suppose for definiteness that $\sigma_1 \geq \sigma_2$.

Let D_+ and D_- be the cones of poles and zeros of the double sine function $S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})$:

$$D_{+} = \{z \colon \sigma_{2} < \arg z < \sigma_{1}\}, \qquad D_{-} = \{z \colon \pi + \sigma_{2} < \arg z < \pi + \sigma_{1}\}, \\ D = D_{+} \cup D_{-}.$$

Denote by $d(z, D_+)$ and $d(z, D_-)$ the distances between a point z and the cones D_{\pm} . Then, the Barnes' Stirling formula for the logarithm of the double Gamma function, see [1, §§85–86], with error term suggested by E. Rains [19, Theorem 2.6] looks as

$$\ln \Gamma_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = -\frac{1}{2} B_{2,2}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) \ln z + \frac{3}{4\omega_1\omega_2} z^2 - \frac{\omega_1 + \omega_2}{2\omega_1\omega_2} z + O\left(d^{-1}(z, D_-)\right).$$
(A.18)

Here $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus D_-$. Moreover, the estimates for the error term given in [2, §57] are uniform on compact subsets of parameters $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ separated from zero. Then, for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (D_+ \cup D_-)$

$$\ln S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \ln \Gamma_2(\omega_1 + \omega_2 - z|\omega_1, \omega_2) - \ln \Gamma_2(z|\omega_1, \omega_2)$$

= $\pm \frac{\pi i}{2} B_{2,2}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega}) + O(d^{-1}(z, D)).$ (A.19)

where the sign + is taken for z in the upper half plane and the sign - for z in the lower half plane (and not in D). Finally, in the same notations,

$$\ln \frac{S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})}{S_2(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})} = \mp \pi i \frac{g}{\omega_1 \omega_2} \left(z - \frac{g^*}{2} \right) + O\left(d^{-1}(z,D) \right).$$
(A.20)

Equivalently, for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus D$

$$\frac{S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})}{S_2(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})} = e^{\mp \pi \imath \frac{g}{\omega_1 \omega_2} \left(z - \frac{g^*}{2}\right)} \left(1 + O\left(d^{-1}(z,D)\right)\right).$$
(A.21)

Using the asymptotics (A.21), we can derive the following bounds which we use for the study of integrals convergence throughout the paper.

Let $K \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a closed subset of a complex plane satisfying the following conditions:

- 1. K is inside the domain of analyticity of $S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})$;
- 2. There exists R > 0 and $\rho > |g|$ such that $K \cap \{|z| > R\}$ does not intersect with D and

$$d(K \cap \{|z| > R\}, D) \ge \rho. \tag{A.22}$$

Proposition 3. Under the conditions 1 and 2 above, we have a bound

$$\left|S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < Ce^{\mp \operatorname{Re}\frac{\pi i g z}{\omega_1 \omega_2}}, \qquad z \in K.$$
(A.23)

The constant C can be stated uniform as the parameters g, ω_1, ω_2 range in a compact domain separated from zero values of periods.

Proof. Due to (A.21) and condition 2, there exist $R_1 > R$ and C_1 such that

$$\left|S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < C_1 e^{\mp \operatorname{Re}\frac{\pi i g z}{\omega_1 \omega_2}}, \qquad z \in K, \ |z| > R_1.$$
(A.24)

On the other hand, the set

$$K \cap \{|z| \le R_1\}\tag{A.25}$$

is compact and belongs to the region of analyticity of the function $S_2(z|\omega)$ $S_2^{-1}(z+g|\omega)$. Thus, this function is bounded on the set (A.25),

$$|S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})| < C_2, \qquad z \in K, \qquad |z| < R_1.$$
 (A.26)

At the same time both real functions $e^{\mp \operatorname{Re} \frac{\pi i g z}{\omega_1 \omega_2}}$ are analytic and positive on the compact set (A.25). Thus, they are bounded from below on this set

$$e^{\mp \operatorname{Re} \frac{\pi \imath g z}{\omega_1 \omega_2}} > C_3 > 0. \tag{A.27}$$

Combining (A.26) and (A.27), we conclude that there exists a positive constant C_4 such that

$$\left|S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < C_4 e^{\mp \operatorname{Re}\frac{\pi i g z}{\omega_1 \omega_2}}, \qquad z \in K, \ |z| \le R_1.$$
(A.28)

Combining (A.24) and (A.28) we arrive at the proof of Proposition 3.

There are two straightforward corollaries of Proposition 3. First, since $|\operatorname{Re} z| < |z|$, (A.23) implies that the function $S_2(z|\omega)S_2^{-1}(z+g|\omega)$ grows at most exponentially

$$\left|S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < Ce^{a|z|}, \qquad z \in K.$$
(A.29)

Second, assume that K is contained in a strip $|\operatorname{Re} z| < b$ for some b > 0. Then, (A.23) implies the bound

$$\left|S_2(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2^{-1}(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < \tilde{C}e^{\operatorname{Re}\frac{\pi g}{\omega_1\omega_2}|y|}, \qquad z=x+iy \in K.$$
(A.30)

The same statement holds for the inverse ratio. Namely, Let $K' \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a closed subset of a complex plane satisfying the following conditions:

- 1'. K' is inside the domain of analyticity of $S_2^{-1}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega});$
- 2'. There exists R'>0 and $\rho'>|g|$ such that $K'\cap\{|z|>R'\}$ does not intersect with D and

$$d(K' \cap \{|z| > R'\}, D) \ge \rho'.$$
(A.31)

Proposition 4. Under the conditions 1' and 2' above, we have a bound

$$\left|S_2^{-1}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < C'e^{\pm\operatorname{Re}\frac{\pi igz}{\omega_1\omega_2}}.$$
(A.32)

In particular, the function $S_2^{-1}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})$ grows at most exponentially

$$\left|S_2^{-1}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < C'e^{a|z|}, \qquad z \in K.$$
(A.33)

If K' is contained in a strip $|\operatorname{Re} z| < b'$ for some b' > 0, then

$$\left|S_2^{-1}(z|\boldsymbol{\omega})S_2(z+g|\boldsymbol{\omega})\right| < \tilde{C}' e^{-\operatorname{Re}\frac{\pi g}{\omega_1 \omega_2}|y|}, \qquad z = x + iy \in K'.$$
(A.34)

B. Bounds for Integrals

Both functions $\mu(z)$ and K(z) can be presented as the ratios of double sine functions that appear in Propositions 3 and 4

$$\mu(z) = S_2(\imath z) S_2^{-1}(\imath z + g),$$

$$K(z) = S_2 \left(\imath z + \frac{\omega_1 + \omega_2}{2} + \frac{g}{2}\right) S_2^{-1} \left(\imath z + \frac{\omega_1 + \omega_2}{2} - \frac{g}{2}\right).$$
(B.1)

The conditions (1.14) and (1.15) imply that both functions have a strip of analyticity which include the real line of the parameter z. For brevity, we also denote by ν_q the constant in the assumption (1.27)

$$\nu_g = \operatorname{Re} \frac{g}{\omega_1 \omega_2} > 0. \tag{B.2}$$

Then, by (A.30) and (A.34) we have

$$\begin{aligned} |K(y)| &< Ce^{-\pi\nu_g|y|},\\ |\mu(y)| &< Ce^{\pi\nu_g|y|}, \end{aligned} \qquad y \in \mathbb{R}, \end{aligned} \tag{B.3}$$

where C is a positive constant uniform for a compact subset of parameters ω_1, ω_2 and g preserving the conditions above. Assume also the condition

$$|\operatorname{Im} \lambda| \le \delta < \nu_g \tag{B.4}$$

with some positive δ .

Proposition 5. The integral (3.4) corresponding to the kernel of Q-operators product

$$Q_n(\boldsymbol{z}_{2n};\boldsymbol{\lambda}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} d\boldsymbol{y}_n \prod_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^n \mu(y_i - y_j) \prod_{a=1}^{2n} \prod_{i=1}^n K(y_i - z_a) e^{2\pi i \boldsymbol{\lambda} \underline{\boldsymbol{y}}_n}$$
(B.5)

converges uniformly with respect to the parameters λ , z_a , ω , g, while the parameters z_a , ω , g range over compact sets preserving the conditions (1.14), (1.15) and (B.2) and the parameter λ varies satisfying the condition (B.4)

Proof. Denote integrand by F. Using (B.3), we arrive at the following bound

$$|F| \le C \, \exp\left(\pi\nu_g \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^n |y_i - y_j| - \pi\nu_g \sum_{a=1}^{2n} \sum_{i=1}^n |y_i - z_a| + \operatorname{Re}\left(2\pi i\lambda \sum_{i=1}^n y_i\right)\right),\tag{B.6}$$

where constant C depends on g, ω . Using for the first two sums inequalities

$$|y_i - y_j| \le |y_i| + |y_j|, \qquad |y_i - z_a| \ge |y_i| - |z_a|$$
 (B.7)

together with $|z_a| \leq M$ (since all z_a vary over compact set) and for the last sum inequality

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{n} y_i\right| \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} |y_i|$$

Vol. 25 (2024) Baxter Operators in Ruijsenaars Hyperbolic System I

we arrive at

$$|F| \le C \exp\left(2\pi\nu_g n^2 M + 2\pi(|\operatorname{Im} \lambda| - \nu_g) \sum_{i=1}^n |y_i|\right).$$
 (B.8)

Since λ satisfies (B.4), the bound (B.8) implies the statement of the proposition.

Remark. As it can be seen from the bound (B.6), the second inequality from the line (B.7) and the bound on the measure function

$$|\mu(\boldsymbol{z}_n)| \le C \exp\left(\pi\nu_g \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^n |z_i - z_j|\right) \le C \exp\left(2\pi\nu_g(n-1) \sum_{i=1}^n |z_i|\right) \quad (B.9)$$

the product of two Q-operators $Q_n(\lambda)Q_n(\rho)$ is well defined on fast decreasing functions $f(\boldsymbol{z}_n)$ bounded as

$$|f(\boldsymbol{z}_n)| \le C \exp\left(-\pi\nu_g \left[3n - 2 + \frac{2|\operatorname{Im}\rho|}{\nu_g} + \varepsilon\right] \sum_{i=1}^n |z_i|\right)$$
(B.10)

with any $\varepsilon > 0$. In the case $\text{Im} \rho = 0$, the bound does not depend on the Q-operators parameters

$$|f(\boldsymbol{z}_n)| \le C \exp\left(-\pi\nu_g(3n-2+\varepsilon)\sum_{i=1}^n |z_i|\right).$$
(B.11)

Besides the integral (3.4) over the real plane in Sect. 3.1 we consider the iterated integral with the same kernel over big semicircles. The study of its convergence and vanishing in the limit splits into three parts: the behavior near real plane where the integrand should rapidly vanish; the total exponential bound of the integrand

$$\tilde{F} = \mu(\boldsymbol{y}_n) \prod_{a=1}^{2n} \prod_{i=1}^n K(y_i - z_a)$$
(B.12)

with the exponent $e^{2\pi \imath \lambda} \underline{y}_n$ in the regular domain $\mathbb{C} \setminus D$; and the exponential bound of the integrand (B.12) in the irregular domain D. The second part is performed by using inequalities (B.7) and exponential bounds (A.29) and (A.33). The third part follows from the same inequalities (B.7) and the results of Sect. 3.1.

Finally, for the first part we need a bound similar to (B.8) but for the arguments in a cone around a real line. This can be done for the parameter λ with negative real part, so that

$$2\pi\lambda = -R + i\theta, \qquad R > 0, \qquad |\theta| \le 2\pi\delta < 2\pi\nu_g, \tag{B.13}$$

and the integration variables on the cone around a real line with negative imaginary parts

$$y_i = \bar{y}_i (1 \pm \imath \operatorname{tg} \varphi_i), \quad \bar{y}_i \in \mathbb{R}, \quad \pm \bar{y}_i \operatorname{tg} \varphi_i < 0, \quad 0 < \varphi_i < \sigma.$$
(B.14)

3255

Here σ is the angle of the cone. The sign + (or -) corresponds to $\bar{y}_i < 0$ (or $\bar{y}_i > 0$). Denote also

$$\frac{g}{\omega_1\omega_2} = \nu_g(1 + \imath \mathrm{tg}\varphi_g), \qquad \alpha = |\mathrm{tg}\varphi_g \mathrm{tg}\sigma|. \tag{B.15}$$

Suppose the following inequality is satisfied

$$2\pi\nu_g(1 - (2n - 1)\alpha) - |\theta| > \varepsilon \tag{B.16}$$

for some $\varepsilon > 0$. For the fixed parameters g, θ this inequality tells us, how small should be σ , that is how narrow should be the cone around a real line, in order to have the following bound.

Proposition 6. Under the conditions (B.13), (B.14), (B.16) we have the bound

$$|F| \le C \exp\left(-\varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\bar{y}_i|\right).$$
(B.17)

Proof. For the variables on the cone (B.14) use the bound (A.23) for measure function together with (B.15)

$$|\mu(y_i - y_j)| \le C \exp\left(\left|\operatorname{Re}\frac{\pi g}{\omega_1 \omega_2}(y_i - y_j)\right|\right) \le C \exp\left(\pi \nu_g (1 + \alpha)(|\bar{y}_i| + |\bar{y}_j|)\right).$$
(B.18)

In the same spirit we use the bound (A.32) for kernel function assuming big enough values of $|y_i|$ (compared to z_a) and, as before, $|z_a| \leq M$

$$|K(y_i - z_a)| \le C' \exp\left(\mp \operatorname{Re}\frac{\pi i g}{\omega_1 \omega_2} \left[i(y_i - z_a) + \frac{g^*}{2}\right]\right) \le \tilde{C}' \exp\left(-\pi \nu_g (1 - \alpha) |\bar{y}_i|\right).$$
(B.19)

Therefore, for the whole integrand we have the bound

$$|F| \le C \, \exp\left(\pi\nu_g(1+\alpha) \sum_{\substack{i,j=1\\i\neq j}}^n (|\bar{y}_i| + |\bar{y}_j|) - \pi\nu_g(1-\alpha) \sum_{a=1}^{2n} \sum_{i=1}^n |\bar{y}_i| + |\theta| \left| \sum_{i=1}^n \bar{y}_i \right| \right),\tag{B.20}$$

which implies

$$|F| \le C \exp\left(\left[2\pi\nu_g((2n-1)\alpha-1)+|\theta|\right]\sum_{i=1}^n |\bar{y}_i|\right).$$
 (B.21)

Then, the proposition follows from the condition (B.16).

References

- Barnes, E.W.: The theory of the double gamma function. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Contain. Pap. Math. Phys. Charact. 196, 265–387 (1901)
- [2] Barnes, E.W.: On the theory of the multiple gamma functions. Trans. Camb. Philos. Soc. 19, 374–425 (1904)

$$\square$$

- [3] Belousov, N., Derkachov, S., Kharchev, S., Khoroshkin, S.: Baxter operators in Ruijsenaars hyperbolic system II. Bispectral wave functions. arXiv:2303.06382 (2023)
- [4] Belousov, N., Derkachov, S., Kharchev, S., Khoroshkin, S.: Hypergeometric identities related to Ruijsenaars system. arXiv:2303.07350 (2023)
- [5] Faddeev, L.D.: Discrete Heisenberg-Weyl Group and modular group. Lett. Math. Phys. 34, 249–254 (1995)
- [6] Hallnäs, M., Langmann, E., Noumi, M., Rosengren, H.: Higher order deformed elliptic Ruijsenaars operators. Commun. Math. Phys. 392(2), 659–689 (2022)
- [7] Hallnäs, M., Ruijsenaars, S.: Kernel functions and Bäcklund transformations for relativistic Calogero–Moser and Toda systems. J. Math. Phys. 53(12), 123512 (2012)
- [8] Hallnäs, M., Ruijsenaars, S.: Joint eigenfunctions for the relativistic Calogero-Moser Hamiltonians of hyperbolic type: I. First steps. Int. Math. Res. Not. 2014(16), 4400–4456 (2014)
- Hallnäs, M., Ruijsenaars, S.: Joint eigenfunctions for the relativistic Calogero– Moser Hamiltonians of hyperbolic type II. The two-and three-variable cases. Int. Math. Res. Not. 2018(14), 4404–4449 (2018)
- [10] Hallnäs, M., Ruijsenaars, S.: Joint eigenfunctions for the relativistic Calogero– Moser Hamiltonians of hyperbolic type. III. Factorized asymptotics. Int. Math. Res. Not. 2021(6), 4679–4708 (2021)
- [11] Hallnäs, M., Ruijsenaars, S.: Product formulas for the relativistic and nonrelativistic conical functions. Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 76, 195–246 (2018)
- [12] Kharchev, S., Khoroshkin, S.: Wave function for $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ hyperbolic Sutherland model. arXiv:2108.04895 (2021)
- [13] Kharchev, S., Khoroshkin, S.: Wave function for $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ hyperbolic Sutherland model II. Dual Hamiltonians. arXiv:2108.05393 (2021)
- [14] Kajihara, Y., Noumi, M.: Multiple elliptic hypergeometric series. An approach from the Cauchy determinant. Indagationes Mathematicae 14(3–4), 395–421 (2003)
- [15] Kurokawa, N., Koyama, S.-Y.: Multiple sine functions. Forum Math. 15, 839–876 (2003)
- [16] Kuznetsov, V.B., Sklyanin, E.K.: On Backlund transformations for many-body systems. J. Phys. A 31, 2241–2251 (1998)
- [17] Langer, R., Schlosser, M.J., Warnaar, S.O.: Theta functions, elliptic hypergeometric series, and Kawanaka's Macdonald polynomial conjecture. SIGMA Symmet. Integrab. Geom.: Methods Appl. 5, 055 (2009)
- [18] Macdonald, I.: Symmetric Function and Hall Polynomials, 2nd edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford (1995)
- [19] Rains, E.M.: Limits of elliptic hypergeometric integrals. Ramanujan J. 18(3), 257–306 (2009)
- [20] Ruijsenaars, S.N.M.: Complete integrability of relativistic Calogero–Moser systems and elliptic function identities. Commun. Math. Phys. 110, 191–213 (1987)
- [21] Ruijsenaars, S.N.M.: First-order analytic difference equations and integrable quantum systems. J. Math. Phys. 38, 1069–1146 (1997)

- [22] Ruijsenaars, S.N.M.: Zero-eigenvalue eigenfunctions for differences of elliptic relativistic Calogero–Moser Hamiltonians. Theor. Math. Phys. 146(1), 25–33 (2006)
- [23] Sklyanin, E.K.: Bäcklund transformations and Baxter's Q-operator, Lecture notes, Integrable systems: from classical to quantum, Universite de Montreal (Jul 26 – Aug 6, 1999), nlin/0009009 [nlin.SI]

N. Belousov and S. Derkachov Steklov Mathematical Institute Fontanka 27, St. Petersburg Russia 191023

and

National Research University Higher School of Economics Soyuza Pechatnikov 16, St. Petersburg Russia 190121 e-mail: derkach@pdmi.ras.ru

S. Kharchev National Research Center "Kurchatov Institute" Moscow Russia 123182

S. Khoroshkin National Research University Higher School of Economics Myasnitskaya 20 Moscow Russia 101000

S. Kharchev and S. Khoroshkin Institute for Information Transmission Problems RAS (Kharkevich Institute) Bolshoy Karetny per. 19 Moscow Russia 127994

Communicated by Nikolai Kitanine. Received: March 16, 2023. Accepted: August 22, 2023.